Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Biliau Diwygio

Lleoliad: | gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a:
Ystafell Bwyllgora 1, Y Senedd Helen Finlayson
Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 24 Ebrill 2024  Clerc y Pwyllgor
Amser: 09.15 0300 200 6565

SeneddDiwygio@senedd.cymru

Hybrid

1

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

Cyflwyniadau, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau
(09.15)

Papurau i'w nodi
(09.15)

Llythyr at Fwrdd Taliadau Annibynnol y Senedd ynghylch Bil Senedd Cymru
(Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol) - 22 Mawrth 2024
(Tudalennau 1 - 2)
Llythyr gan Fwrdd Taliadau Annibynnol y Senedd ynghylch Bil Senedd Cymru
(Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol) - 12 Ebrill 2024
(Tudalennau 3 - 8)
Llythyr gan y Prif Weinidog at y Llywydd mewn perthynas a'r Aelodau sy'n
gyfrifol am Filiau Llywodraeth Cymru - 5 Ebrill 2024
(Tudalen 9)
Ymateb gan y Pwyllgor Safonau Ymddygiad ynghylch yr Adroddiad Cyfnod 1
ar Fil Senedd Cymru (Aelodau ac Etholiadau) - 17 Ebrill 2024
(Tudalen 10)
Llythyr oddi wrth y Liywydd ynghylch Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr
Etholiadol) - 15 Ebrill 2024
(Tudalennau 11 - 16)

"(’% Senedd Cymru

Welsh Parliament



3 Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol): Sesiwn

dystiolaeth gyda 5050 Amrywiol

(09.15-10.15) (Tudalennau 17 - 93)
Victoria Vasey, Rwydwaith Cydraddoldeb Menywod Cymru (WEN Cymru)
Jessica Blair, Cymdeithas Diwygio Etholiadol Cymru

Uzo lwobi, Race Council Cymru

Selima Bahadur, Tim Lleiafrifoedd Ethnig ac leuenctid Cymru

Dogfennau ategol

Papur 1 Tystiolaeth ysgrifenedig: 5050 Amrywiol [Saesneg yn unig]
Papur 2 Tystiolaeth ysgrifenedig: Cymdeithas Diwygio Etholiadol Cymru
[Saesneg yn unig]

Briff Ymchwil

Papur 3 nodyn cyngor cyfreithiol

Egwyl (10.15-10.25)

4 Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol): Sesiwn

dystiolaeth gyda'r Rhwydwaith Hawliau Menywod

(10.25-11.20) (Tudalennau 94 - 122)
Catherine Larkman, Cydlynydd Rhwydwaith Hawliau Menywod Cymru

Claire Loneragan, Cyfarwyddwr y Rhwydwaith Hawliau Menywod

Heather Binning, Sylfaenydd a Chyfarwyddwr y Rhwydwaith Hawliau

Menywod

Dogfennau ategol
Papur 4 Tystiolaeth ysgrifenedig: Rhwydwaith Hawliau Menywod [Saesheg yn

unig]
Briff Ymchwil



Egwyl (11.20-11.30)

5 Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol): Sesiwn
dystiolaeth gyda Chawcws Menywod y Senedd
(11.30-12.15) (Tudalennau 123 - 142)
Joyce Watson AS, Cadeirydd Cawcws Menywod y Senedd
Janet Finch-Saunders AS
Sioned Williams AS

Rhianon Passmore AS

Dogfennau ategol

Papur 5 Tystiolaeth ysgrifenedig: Joyce Watson AS, Cadeirydd Cawcws
Menywod y Senedd [Saesneg yn unig]

Briff Ymchwil

6 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 (ix) i benderfynu gwahardd y
cyhoedd o weddill y cyfarfod hwn, ac ar gyfer eitem 1 yny

cyfarfod ar 1 Mai 2024
(12.15)

7 Bil Senedd Cymru (Aelodau ac Etholiadau): Trafod y dystiolaeth
(12.15-12.30)



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur i'r nodi 2.1 | Paper to note 2.1

Y Pwyllgor Biliau Diwygio Bae Caerdydd, Cgim%ﬁ,gnzh 1

SeneddDiwygio@senedd.cymru

Reform Bill Commiittee senedd.cymru/SeneddDiwygio
0300 200 6565

Welsh Parliament
Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN

SeneddReform@senedd.wales
senedd.wales/SeneddReform
0300 200 6565

Dr Elizabeth Haywood
Cadeirydd, Bwrdd Taliadau Annibynnol y Senedd

22 Mawrth 2024
Annwy! Elizabeth

Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol): tystiolaeth ysgrifenedig

gyfer gwaith craffu Cyfnod 1 ar ei egwyddorion cyffredinol. Rydym yn ysgrifennu i ofyn am dystiolaeth
ysgrifenedig gan y Bwrdd Taliadau Annibynnol i lywio ein gwaith. Yn benodol, byddem yn croesawu
rhagor o wybodaeth mewn perthynas a'r cwestiynau isod.

Wrth ofyn y cwestiynau hyn, rydym yn cydnabod bod cyd-ddibyniaeth rhwng cynllun a chost vy Bil
hwn a Bil Senedd Cymru (Aelodau ac Etholiadau) fel pecyn o ddiwygiadau. Fodd bynnag, ein rél ni yw
craffu ar bob Bil a'r Memorandwm Esboniadol a'r Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol cysylltiedig yn 6l eu
rhinweddau, yn enwedig gan nad yw'r darpariaethau cychwyn yn 'y Bil yn nodi ym mha etholiad
cyffredinol y Senedd y bydd darpariaethau’r Bil yn dod i rym.

1. Rydym yn nodi nad yw Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol Llywodraeth Cymru sy'n cyd-fynd a'r
Bil yn nodi unrhyw gostau ychwanegol i Gomisiwn y Senedd (gan gynnwys mewn
perthynas a chyflogau a Iwfansau'r Aelodau). Pa ran y mae'r Bwrdd Taliadau Annibynnol
wedi'i chwarae o ran datblygu'r Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol? A allwch chi gadarnhau na
ragwelir unrhyw gostau neu arbedion mesuradwy neu anfesuradwy mewn perthynas a
chyflogau a Iwfansau’r Aelodau sy'n gysylltiedig a'r Bil hwn?

byddai'r Bwrdd yn trafod ei adolygiad thematig o gyflogau a chymorth personol yr
Aelodau yn fuan. O ystyried y cynnydd yn nifer a chyfran y menywod sy'n cael eu hethol i'r
Senedd mae'r Bil yn ceisio’i gyflawni, pa asesiad y mae'r Bwrdd wedi'i wneud o lefel ac
effeithiolrwydd y Iwfans ariannol a'r pecyn cymorth presennol ar gyfer Aelodau sydd a
chyfrifoldebau gofal plant neu ofalu?

’?E// Senedd Cymru

Welsh Parliament

Tudalen y pecyn 1


https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42338
https://cofnod.senedd.cymru/Committee/13780

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur i'r nodi 2.1 | Paper to note 2.1

3. Paystyriaeth a roddwyd i'r ffordd y gellid defnyddio unrhyw ysgogiadau o fewn cylch
gwaith y Bwrdd i fynd i'r afael & rhwystrau sy'n deillio o ffyrdd o weithio'r Senedd a allai fel
arall atal menywod a grwpiau heb gynrychiolaeth ddigonol rhag sefyll mewn etholiad neu
gyfyngu ar hyd eu cyfnod yn y rol?

4. Sut mae'r Bwrdd yn bwriadu ymgysylltu a'r Aelodau a rhanddeiliaid ar newidiadau posibl
i'r Penderfyniad ar gyfer y Seithfed Senedd sydd a'r nod o gefnogi menywod a grwpiau
heb gynrychiolaeth ddigonol?

Byddai'n ddefnyddiol pe gallech ymateb erbyn 12 Ebrill 2024. Mae copi o'r llythyr hwn yn cael ei
anfon at y Pwyllgor Cyllid a'r Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a'r Cyfansoddiad, ac at y Prif
Weinidog.

Yn gywir
. - !
?a,d rC) ’f Z)aw .
David Rees AS

Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Biliau Diwygio

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu yn Saesneg. We welcome correspondence in Welsh or
English.

Tudalen y pecyn 2

’?E// Senedd Cymru

Welsh Parliament



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur i'r nodi 2.2 | Paper to note 2.2

Bwrdd Taliadau Annib I
yv;’;ned: aeat by Bae Caerdyddﬁimgz'z

Taliadau@senedd.cymru
bwrddtaliadau.cymru
0300 200 6565

Independent Remuneration Board
of the Senedd

Welsh Parliament
Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN

Remuneration@senedd.wales

David Rees AS e e
Cadeirydd
Y Pwyllgor Biliau Diwygio

12 Ebrill 2024
Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol): tystiolaeth ysgrifenedig
Annwyl David,

Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 22 Mawrth a'r cyfle i gyfrannu at waith craffu'r Pwyllgor Biliau
Diwygio ar Fil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol).

Mae eich llythyr yn nodi nifer o gwestiynau sy'n ymwneud a rhan y Bwrdd yn y gwaith paratoi ar gyfer
y Bil hwn ynghyd ag a fyddai'r Bwrdd yn ystyried goblygiadau'r Bil ar gyfer materion o fewn cylch
gorchwyl y Bwrdd a sut y byddai'n gwneud hynny.

Rydw i wedi nodi fy atebion i'r cwestiynau hyn mewn atodiad i'r llythyr hwn.

Yn gywir,

Dr Elizabeth Haywood,
Cadeirydd Bwrdd Taliadau Annibynnol y Senedd

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. | We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English.

BWRDD TALIADAU Tudalen y pecyn 3
REMUNERATION BOARD



Atodiad A: Ymateb y Bwrdd Taliadau i
Gwestiynau'r Pwyllgor Biliau Diwygio

Y Pwyllgor Biliau Diwygio: Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau

Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol)

Ebrill 2024

1. Nodwn nad yw Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol Llywodraeth Cymru sy’'n cyd-fynd a Bil
Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol) yn cynnwys unrhyw gostau
ychwanegol i Gomisiwn y Senedd (gan gynnwys mewn perthynas a chyflogau a
Iwfansau Aelodau). Pa ran y mae'r Bwrdd Taliadau Annibynnol wedi'i chael yn
natblygiad yr Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol? A allwch gadarnhau nad oes unrhyw gostau
neu arbedion mesuradwy neu anfesuradwy a ragwelir mewn perthynas a chyflogau a
Iwfansau Aelodau sy'n gysylltiedig a Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr
Etholiadol)?

1.1, Nid yw'r Bwrdd wedi cyfrannu o gwbl at y broses o ddatblygu Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol
Llywodraeth Cymru, ond o ystyried diben y Bil a'r effaith fach y byddai ei ddarpariaethau yn ei
chael ar y Penderfyniad, mae hyn i'w ddisgwy!.

1.2. Yn seiliedig ar y Bil, y Memorandwm Esboniadol a'r Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol a
gyhoeddwyd, nid yw'r Bwrdd yn rhagweld unrhyw gostau neu arbedion mesuradwy neu
anfesuradwy sylweddol mewn perthynas a chyflogau a Iwfansau Aelodau mewn cysylltiad a'r
Bil. Mae'r costau sy'n gysylltiedig a'r Penderfyniad ar gyfer cynyddu maint y Senedd eisoes
wedi'u hadlewyrchu yn yr Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol ar gyfer Bil Senedd Cymru (Aelodau ac
Etholiadau), ac maent yn seiliedig ar uwchraddio’r darpariaethau presennol yn y Penderfyniad.

1.3. Darperir ar hyn o bryd ar gyfer ystod o Gymorth Ychwanegol i Aelodau yny Penderfyniad,
gan gynnwys (3A.3) cymorth i Aelodau sydd a chyfrifoldebau gofal plant a chyfrifoldebau
gofal eraill a (3A.4) cymorth i Aelodau ar absenoldeb rhiant. Mae'r Penderfyniad (4.4.3h)
hefyd yn cynnwys darpariaeth ar gyfer costau llety ychwanegol i'r Aelodau hynny sydd a
chyfrifoldeb i ofalu am ddibynnydd sydd fel arfer yn byw gyda nhw yn ardal Caerdydd. Mae
Pennod 3A wedi'i chynllunio i fod yn ymatebol i anghenion sy'n newid a gall costau a hawlir o
dan y bennod hon newid yn ystod tymor y Senedd, neu flwyddyn ariannol, fel sy'n briodol i
ddiwallu amgylchiadau neu anghenion newidiol Aelodau.

2. Pan wnaethoch ymddangos gerbron y Pwyllgor ar 30 Tachwedd 2023, dywedoch y
byddai'r Bwrdd yn trafod ei adolygiad thematig o gyflogau a chymorth personol yr
Aelodau cyn bo hir. O ystyried y cynnydd yn nifer a chyfran y menywod a gaiff eu
hethol i'r Senedd y mae gan Fil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol) y nod
o’i gyflawni, pa asesiad y mae’r Bwrdd wedi’i wneud o lefel ac effeithiolrwydd y lwfans

BWRDD TALIADAU Tudalen'y pecyn 4
REMUNERATION BOARD



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur i'r nodi 2.2 | Paper to note 2.2
ariannol a phecyn cymorth presennol ar gyfer Aelodau sydd a chyfrifoldebau gofal
plant neu gyfrifoldebau gofalu?

2.1. Ymgynghorwyd ar y Cylch Gorchwyl ar gyfer adolygiad thematig y Bwrdd o gyflogau a
chymorth personol Aelodau yn ystod mis Rhagfyr 2023 a mis lonawr 2024 ac maent wedi'u
cynnwys yn Atodiad B er gwybodaeth. Mae'r gwaith hwn yn dechrau yn Chwarter 12024-25.
Bydd unrhyw gynigion sy'n deillio o'r adolygiad hwn yn destun ymgynghori cyn cyhoeddi'r
Penderfyniad ar gyfer y Seithfed Senedd.

2.2. Bydd yr Adolygiad yn ystyried cyflogau a chymorth personol Aelodau, gan gynnwys y
darpariaethau presennol a nodir ym Mhennod 3A o'r Penderfyniad, sy'n cynnwys cymorth i
Aelodau anabl, cymorth ar gyfer cyfrifoldebau gofalu a chymorth i Aelodau ar absenoldeb
rhiant. At hynny, mae darpariaethau ar gyfer Aelodau sydd a chyfrifoldebau gofalu ym
Mhennod 4, sy'n ymwneud a gwariant ar lety preswyl (4.4.4 h), a fydd yn cael eu hadolygu
hefyd.

2.3. Bydd yr adolygiad yn ystyried data perthnasol i ddeall y defnydd o'r darpariaethau hyn, yn
adolygu’r mesurau hyn yn unol ag arferion gorau, yn adolygu llenyddiaeth ddiweddar ar
seneddau cynhwysol sy'n ystyriol o deuluoedd, ac yn ymgysylltu ag Aelodau i ddeall yn well
beth sy'n gweithio'n dda ac a oes unrhyw rwystrau neu heriau y dylai'r Bwrdd geisio mynd i'r
afael & hwy ar gyfer y Seithfed Senedd.

2.4. Mae cydraddoldeb, amrywiaeth a chynhwysiant hefyd yn ystyriaeth ar draws holl adolygiadau
thematig y Bwrdd i sicrhau bod y Penderfyniad nid yn unig yn effeithio'n deg ac yn gyfartal ar
Aelodau ond hefyd yn gwneud yr hyn sy’'n bosibl i hyrwyddo cydraddoldeb.

. Pa ystyriaeth a roddwyd i sut y gellid gweithredu o fewn cylch gwaith y Bwrdd i fynd
i'r afael a rhwystrau sy’'n deillio o ffyrdd o weithio yn y Senedd a allai fel arall atal
menywod a grwpiau heb gynrychiolaeth ddigonol rhag sefyll mewn etholiad neu a allai
gyfyngu ar hyd eu cyfnod yn y rél?

3.1. Fel y nodwyd uchod, mae cydraddoldeb, amrywiaeth a chynhwysiant yn ystyriaeth ar draws
holl adolygiadau thematig y Bwrdd yn ogystal a'i waith o ddydd i ddydd.

3.2. Rydym hefyd wedi nodi uchod sut y bydd yr adolygiad thematig penodol sy’'n ymwneud a
chymorth personol Aelodau yn cael ei gynnal, sy'n cynnwys darpariaethau i gefnogi Aelodau
anabl a'r rhai sydd a chyfrifoldebau gofalu.

3.3. Mae'r Bwrdd yn ymwybodol o sut y gall ffyrdd newidiol o weithio a Senedd hybrid newid
anghenion Aelodau a'u staff, a sut y gallai hyn ryngweithio & materion cydraddoldeb,
amrywiaeth a chynhwysiant. Bydd nifer o'r materion hyn yn ymwneud a threfniadau
gweithdrefnol neu'r ystad neu gyfleusterau seneddol, a fydd yn cael eu hystyried gan y
Pwyllgor Busnes a Chomisiwn y Senedd yn y drefn honno. Bydd yr ystyriaethau hyn yn llywio'r
adolygiad Ffyrdd o Weithio sy'n cael ei arwain gan Syr David Hanson, sy'n ystyried sut y gallai
Aelodau ymagysylltu a gweithio o'u hetholaethau ac oddi mewn iddynt.

3.4. Mae trefniadau rhannu swydd wedi cael ei ystyried fel mater a allai helpu i leihau rhwystrau
rhag cymryd rhan. Mae'r Bwrdd yn nodi bod y Pwyllgor Biliau Diwygio yn ei adroddiad
Cyfnod 1 wedi argymell y dylai'r Pwyllgor Busnes ystyried cynnig sefydlu pwyllgor newydd yn'y
Senedd hon i ystyried materion sy'n ymwneud a threfniadau rhannu swydd a dal swydd dros
dro, neu ofyn i un o bwyllgorau'r Senedd a chylch gorchwyl perthnasol i wneud gwaith o'r

BWRDD TALIADAU Tudalengy pecyn 5
REMUNERATION BOARD



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur i'r nodi 2.2 | Paper to note 2.2
fath. Byddai'r Bwrdd yn ystyried y goblygiadau ar gyflogau Aelodau neu gyflogau uwch-
ddeiliaid swyddi ychwanegol pe bai deddfwriaeth neu unrhyw benderfyniad gan y Senedd yn
cyflwyno trefniadau rhannu swydd.

3.5. Ysgogiad arall y bydd y Bwrdd yn ei ystyried wrth iddo wneud penderfyniadau ar gyfer y
Seithfed Senedd yw lefel yr hyblygrwydd vy gellir ei roi i Aelodau o dan y Penderfyniad. Mae'r
Bwrdd yn cydnabod bod angen i'r Penderfyniad roi digon o hyblygrwydd i Aelodau ymateb
I'w hanghenion gwahanol neu newidiol eu hunain.

. Sut mae’r Bwrdd yn bwriadu ymgysylltu ag Aelodau a rhanddeiliaid ynghylch
newidiadau posibl i'r Penderfyniad ar gyfer y Seithfed Senedd gyda’r nod o gefnogi
menywod a grwpiau heb gynrychiolaeth ddigonol?

4.1. Byddy Bwrdd yn ymgynghori ar gynigion ar gyfer y Seithfed Senedd, fel sy’n ofynnol gan
Fesur Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru (Taliadau) 2010. Bydd hefyd yn parhau i ymgysylltu ag
Aelodau a staff cymorth drwy grwpiau cynrychioliadol a sesiynau galw heibio i Aelodau. Bydd
gwaith ymgynghori ac ymgysylltu hefyd yn cael ei wneud ar wahanol adegau wrth i
adolygiadau thematig fynd rhagddynt. Bydd y Bwrdd yn annog yr Aelodau i ddefnyddio’r
cyfleoedd hyn i rannu eu safbwyntiau a thystiolaeth ar yr hyn sy'n gweithio a'r hyn y gellid ei
wneud yn wahanol, yn enwedig yng nghyd-destun diwygio'r Senedd.

4.2. Bydd y Bwrdd hefyd yn ymgynghori & rhanddeiliaid ehangach, yn enwedig y rhai sydd ag
arbenigedd ym maes cydraddoldeb, amrywiaeth a chynhwysiant, felly bydd yn cymryd camau
i annog pobl a sefydliadau i gyfrannu at ymgynghoriadau ar gynigion polisi a'r Penderfyniad
drafft ar gyfer y Seithfed Senedd.

BWRDD TALIADAU Tudaleny pecyn 6
REMUNERATION BOARD



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur i'r nodi 2.2 | Paper to note 2.2

Atodiad B:

Y Bwrdd Taliadau

Adolygiad thematig

Taliadau a Chymorth Personol i'r Aelodau
Cylch Gorchwyl

Mawrth 2024

Diben

1. Mae'r ddogfen hon yn nodi'r cylch gorchwyl ar gyfer yr Adolygiad Thematig o Daliadau a
Chymorth Personol i'r Aelodau.

Amcanion

2. Bydd yr adolygiad yn ceisio sicrhau bod y Penderfyniad ar gyfer y Seithfed Senedd yn cyd-fynd a'r
amcanion statudol a ganlyn:

e sicrhau body tal a gaiff Aelodau o'r Senedd

o yn adlewyrchiad teg o gymhlethdod a phwysigrwydd y swyddogaethau y disgwylir
iddynt eu cyflawni, a

o sicrhau nad yw, am resymau ariannol, yn atal pobl sydd a'r ymrwymiad a'r gallu
angenrheidiol rhag ymageisio i gael eu hethol i'r Senedd,

e sicrhau bod gan Aelodau o'r Senedd adnoddau digonol i'w galluogi i gyflawni eu
swyddogaethau fel Aelodau.

Egwyddorion
3. Mae holl waith y Bwrdd Taliadau Annibynnol yn cael ei seilio ar gyfres o egwyddorion:

e Dylai'r cymorth ariannol a'r taliadau a roddir i'r Aelodau gefnogi diben strategol y Senedd a
hwyluso gwaith ei Haelodau

BWRDD TALIADAU Tudalen5y pecyn 7
REMUNERATION BOARD



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur i'r nodi 2.2 | Paper to note 2.2

e Rhaid i benderfyniadau fod yn briodol yng nghyd-destun enillion yng Nghymru ac
amgylchiadau ariannol ehangach Cymru

e Rhaid i'r system cymorth ariannol i'r Aelodau fod yn gadarn, yn glir, yn dryloyw, yn gynaliadwy
ac yn gynhwysol, a rhaid iddi gynnig gwerth am arian i drethdalwyr.

Cylch Gorchwyl

4. Bydd yr adolygiad yn ystyried cyflogau'r Aelodau, cyflogau deiliaid swyddi ychwanegol, cymorth
personol, costau teithio a llety preswyl yr Aelodau, a chymorth i Aelodau sy'n gadael eu swydd. Er
nad yw costau teithio a llety preswyl yn dal nac yn gydnabyddiaeth ariannol, maent wedi'u
cynnwys yn yr adolygiad hwn gan eu bod yn helpu i gydbwyso ymrwymiadau personol ac
ymrwymiadau gofalu'r Aelodau, lle bo hynny’n berthnasol, gan eu galluogi a'u cynorthwyo |
ddiwallu eu hanghenion teithio a llety cysylltiedig &'u gwaith.

5. Bydd yr adolygiad yn canolbwyntio'n benodol ar roi cymorth personol i'r Aelodau er mwyn ceisio
lleihau rhwystrau, hyrwyddo hygyrchedd a hybu amrywiaeth a chydraddoldeb yn y Senedd
newydd a sicrhau cyfnod pontio didrafferth i fywyd ar 6l y Senedd.

6. Bydd hefyd yn ystyried materion yn ymwneud a meysydd cymorth fel hyblygrwydd, niwtraliaeth
garbon, a diogelwch a lles yr Aelodau.

7. Bydd yr adolygiad yn cael ei rannu’n dair ffrwd waith wahanol:

e Ffrwd waith un: Tal ac Amodau’r Aelodau (sy’'n ymdrin a darpariaethau ym Mhennod 3 a 3A or
Penderfyniad ar Dal a Lwfansau'r Aelodau)

e Ffrwd waith dau: Llety Preswyl a Theithio (Penodau 4 a 5 or Penderfyniad)
e Ffrwd waith tri: Aelodau sy'n gadael eu swyddi (Pennod 9 or Penderfyniad)
8. Wrth gynnal yr adolygiad, bydd y Bwrdd yn:

» Ystyried unrhyw newidiadau i rolau a chyfrifoldebau’r Aelodau yn nhymhorau diweddar y
Senedd

» Ystyried goblygiadau diwygio'r Senedd o ran nifer yr Aelodau, eu cyfrifoldebau a'r amrywiaeth
o ‘ddeiliaid swyddi ychwanegol” a fydd yn gallu hawlio cyflog ychwanegol

= Ceisio barn yr Aelodau am unrhyw newidiadau angenrheidiol i Benderfyniad y Seithfed Senedd

= Ceisio barn Comisiwn y Senedd, y cyhoedd a rhanddeiliaid, casglu tystiolaeth gymharol ac
ystyried methodolegau a ddefnyddir yn seneddau eraill yn y DU ac yn rhyngwladol.

BWRDD TALIADAU Tudalen y pecyn 8
REMUNERATION BOARD



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur i'r nodi 2.3 | Paper to note 2.3

Vaughan Gething AS/MS
Prif Weinidog Cymru/First Minister of Wales

A )2
o

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

Elin Jones MS
Llywydd
Senedd Cymru
Bae Caerdydd
CF99 1NA

5 Ebrill 2024

Aelodau sy’n gyfrifol am Biliau’r Llywodraeth

Ysgrifennaf atoch er mwyn eich hysbysu fy mod, dan Reol Sefydlog 24.4(ii), yn awdurdodi
aelodau canlynol y Llywodraeth fel Aelodau sy’n Gyfrifol am Filiau’r Llywodraeth:

e Julie James AS, Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Lywodraeth Leol, Tai a Chynllunio, fel
yr Aelod sy’n gyfrifiol am Fil Seilwaith (Cymru).

e Mick Antoniw AS, Y Darpar Gwnsler Cyffredinol, fel yr Aelod sy’n gyfrifiol am Fil
Senedd Cymru (Aelodau ac Etholiadau).

¢ Mick Antoniw AS, Y Darpar Gwnsler Cyffredinol, fel yr Aelod sy’n gyfrifiol am Fil
Etholiadau a Chyrff Etholedig (Cymru).

e Rebecca Evans AS, Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid, y Cyfansoddiad a Swyddfa’r
Cabinet, fel yr Aelod sy’n gyfrifiol am Fil Cyllid LIlywodraeth Leol (Cymru).

e Jane Hutt AS, Y Trefnydd a'r Prif Chwip, fel yr Aelod sy’n gyfrifiol am Fil Senedd
Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol).

Yn gywir,

g Gty

VAUGHAN GETHING

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:

Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay 0300 0604400
Caerdydd » Cardiff Gohebiaeth.Vaughan.Gething@llyw.cymru
CF99 1SN Correspondence.Vaughan.Gething@gov.wales

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.nmlgmrMeRegmeQin Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.


mailto:Gohebiaeth.Vaughan.Gething@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Vaughan.Gething@gov.wales

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur i'r nodi 2.4 | Paper to note 2.4

mggdﬂfonau

Standards of Conduct
Committee

David Rees AS
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Biliau Diwygio
Drwy e-bost

17 Ebrill 2024

Annwyl David,

Bil Senedd Cymru (Aelodau ac Etholiadau): Adroddiad Cyfnod 1

Senedd Cymru
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN

SeneddSafonau@senedd.cymru
senedd.cymru/SeneddSafonau
0300 200 6565

Welsh Parliament

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN
SeneddStandards@senedd.wales
senedd.wales/SeneddStandards
0300 200 6565

Fel y nodwyd yn fy llythyr dyddiedig 22 lonawr, cyfarfu'r Pwyllgor Safonau Ymddygiad ar 5 Chwefror i

ystyried yr argymhelliad gan y Pwyllgor Biliau Diwygio.

Mae'r Pwyllgor o'r farn bod y maes hwn yn un pwysig iawn i helpu i sicrhau hyder yn y Senedd, ond

gwnaethom nodi bod y mater yn un cymhleth a fydd yn gofyn am ystyriaeth sylweddol. Mae'r

Pwyllgor wedi derbyn yr argymhelliad yn ffurfiol a bydd yn bwrw ymlaen ag ef fel rhan o'i ymchwiliad

i urddas a pharch, a fydd yn edrych ar yr ystod eang o ddarpariaethau yn y fframwaith Safonau. Bydd

y Pwyllgor yn gadael i'r Pwyllgor Biliau Diwygio wybod am y cynnydd a wneir.

Yn gywir,

Vikki Howells MS
Chair

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg.

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English.

’?E// Senedd Cymru

Welsh Parliament

Tudalen y pecyn 10



s e 1

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur i'r nodi 2.5 | Paper to note 2.5

Bae Caerdydd, Cmmgz- 5

Llywydd@senedd.cymru
0300 200 6565

Y Gwir Anrhydeddus Elin Jones AS
Llywydd, Senedd Cymru

Right Honourable Elin Jones MS .
Llywydd, Welsh Parliament Welsh Parliament
Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN

Llywydd@senedd.wales
0300 200 6565

David Rees AS
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Biliau Diwygio

15 Ebrill 2024

Annwyl David,

Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol)

Diolch ichi am eich llythyr dyddiedig 22 Mawrth 2024, ac am y cyfle i gynorthwyo'r Pwyllgor yn ei
waith craffu ar Fil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol) (“Bil SC(RhYE)"). Amgaeaf fy
ymateb i'r cwestiynau a godwyd yn eich llythyr.

Fel y gwyddoch, fel Llywydd, gosodais fy natganiad ar gymhwysedd deddfwriaethol mewn
perthynas a Bil SC(RhYE) (fel sy’'n ofynnol o dan Reol Sefydlog 26.4) ar 11 Mawrth 2024. Yn unol a'r
cais, dyma ysgrifennu atoch yn awr yn rhinwedd fy swydd fel Cadeirydd Comisiwn y Senedd, a
Chadeirydd Pwyllgor Busnes y Senedd. Mae'r wybodaeth amgaeédig, felly, yn cael ei darparu’'n
annibynnol ar fy natganiad ar gymhwysedd deddfwriaethol. Yn yr un modd, ni ddylai fy ymateb
amgaeédig ddylanwadu o gwbl ar y modd vy caiff fy natganiad ar gymhwysedd deddfwriaethol ei
ddehongli.

Cysylltwch ar bob cyfrif os gallaf fod o gymorth pellach i'r Pwyllgor yn ei drafodaethau

Yn gywir,

Y Gwir Anrhydeddus Elin Jones MS/AS

Llywydd

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg / We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English

Tudaleny pecyn 11



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur i'r nodi 2.5 | Paper to note 2.5

Ymateb i gwestiynau yn y llythyr gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Biliau
Diwygio: 22 Mawrth 2024

Cwestiwn 1. Rydym yn nodi nad yw Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol Llywodraeth Cymru ar
gyfery Bil hwn yn nodi unrhyw gostau nac arbedion i Gomisiwn y Senedd. Pa rany
mae Comisiwn y Senedd wedi'i chwarae o ran datblygu'r Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol?
A allwch chi gadarnhau na ragwelir unrhyw gostau neu arbedion mesuradwy neu
anfesuradwy i'r Comisiwn yn gysylltiedig a'r Bil hwn?

Ymateb: Gallaf gadarnhau nad yw Comisiwn y Senedd wedi chwarae unrhyw ran yny
gwaith o ddatblygu Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol Bil SC(RhYE). Darparodd y Comisiwn
gostau o ran yr Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol ar gyfer Bil Senedd Cymru (Aelodau ac
Etholiadau). Rwyf ar ddeall — o ystyried cwmpas Bil SC(RhYE) a'r wybodaeth a
ddarparwyd — nad oedd Llywodraeth Cymru wedi'i gwneud yn ofynnol i Gomisiwn y
Senedd roi unrhyw wybodaeth ychwanegol i lywio'r Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol ar
gyfer Bil SC(RhYE).

Cwestiwn 2: Pa baratoadau y mae Comisiwn y Senedd yn eu gwneud i godi
ymwybyddiaeth y cyhoedd o'r Bil? Beth yw'r amcangyfrif o gost y gweithgaredd
hwn?

Ymateb: Mae cynllun cyfathrebu lefel uchel wedi'i ddatblygu, wrth ragweld pasio'r
ddeddfwriaeth ddiwygio.

Bydd ymgyrch gyfathrebu Comisiwn y Senedd ar gyfer Diwygio'r Senedd yn mynd ati
i gyflawni'r canlynol:

= Codi ymwybyddiaeth o'r newidiadau i'r Senedd;
= cynyddu dealltwriaeth o rél y Senedd a'i Aelodau; ac
= annog cyfranogiad yn etholiad y Senedd.

Bydd hyn —iraddau helaeth — yn ategu amcanion Strategaeth Gyfathrebu ac
Ymagysylltu Comisiwn y Senedd ar gyfer y Chweched Senedd, sydd yn ei thrydedd
flwyddyn ac sy'n anelu at gyrraedd cynulleidfacedd nad ydynt wedi ymgysylltu a'r
Senedd o'r blaen. Bydd hon yn parhau i fod yn gynulleidfa sy'n flaenoriaeth i
Gomisiwn y Senedd ond oherwydd maint y newidiadau, bydd y Strategaeth
Cyfathrebu ac Ymgysylltu hefyd yn ymgorffori technegau i gyrraedd y rheini sy'n fwy
tebygol o fod wedi ymgysylltu a'r Senedd, a sefydlu ei hun fel ffynhonnell wybodaeth y
gellir ymddiried ynddi.

Wrth ystyried hyd a lled y newidiadau a'u pwysigrwydd, mae gwaith eisoes yn mynd
rhagddo i archwilio cyfleoedd i weithio gyda phartneriaid — megis Llywodraeth Cymru
a'r Comisiwn Etholiadol —i alinio cynlluniau cyfathrebu Comisiwn y Senedd, a sicrhau
bod pob sefydliad yn cydweithio lle bynnag y bo modd. At hynny, mae'n sicrhau nad
yw ymdrechion yn cael eu dyblygu, bod negeseuon dryslyd yn cael eu hosgoi, bod y
defnydd gorau o arian cyhoeddus yn cael ei ddarparu.

Tudalen y pecyn 12



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur i'r nodi 2.5 | Paper to note 2.5
Mae Cynllun Ymgyrch Diwygio'r Senedd, Comisiwn y Senedd, wedi'i rannu’'n gamau
sy'n ymestyn o basio'r Bil i gyflwyno Senedd newydd, ddiwygiedig yn 2026.

Cam Un - Rhannu Gwybodaeth (Haf 2024 — Gwanwyn 2025)

Bydd y cam hwn o'r ymgyrch yn canolbwyntio ymdrechion ar sicrhau bod pobl sy'n
ymagysylltu a'r Senedd yn gallu cael mynediad hawdd at wybodaeth glir a dealladwy
am y newidiadau, a sut y bydd y newidiadau hynny'n effeithio arnynt.

Mae hyn yn cynnwys diweddariadau i wefan y Senedd, gwybodaeth wedi'i diweddaru
ary safle ar gyfer ymwelwyr a'r Senedd, sesiynau addysg wedi'u diweddaru a
gwybodaeth yn sioeau haf Comisiwn y Senedd.

At hynny, bydd y cam hwn o'r ymngyrch hefyd cael ei ddefnyddio i nodi 25 mlynedd ers
sefydlu’r Senedd, er mwyn tynnu sylw at gam nesaf ei thaith, gan gynnwys archwilio
cyfleoedd gyda'r cyfryngau, a digwyddiadau yn y Senedd a gynhelir gany Llywydd.

Cam Dau - Annog Cyfranogiad (Gwanwyn 2025 — Mai 2026)

Yn ystod y cyfnod hwn, bydd ymdrechion yn cael eu cynyddu er mwyn cyrraedd
cynulleidfacedd nad ydynt, fel arfer, yn ymgysylltu a'r Senedd, yn ogystal a chynnal
cysylltiadau a'r rheini sydd wedi gwneud o'r blaen.

Mae hyn yn cynnwys canolbwyntio'r rhan fwyaf o weithgareddau ymgysylltu wyneb
yn wyneb Comisiwn y Senedd ar Ddiwygio'r Senedd — gan gynnwys sioeau haf,
allgymorth cymunedol, digwyddiadau a sesiynau addysg. Bydd hynny'n cael ei
wneud gan ddefnyddio mewnwelediad cynulleidfa i lywio'r gweithgareddau'n unol
ag anghenion y cynulleidfaocedd targed hynny.

Daw uchafbwynt y cyfnod hwn tuag at ei ddiwedd, pan fydd Comisiwn y Senedd yn
lansio ei ymgyrch gwybodaeth etholiad. Mae syniadau cynnar ar gyfer yr ymgyrch
hon yn cynnwys gweithio gyda chrewyr cynnwys ar y cyfryngau cymdeithasol,
ymgyrch hysbysebu digidol, allgymorth cymunedol — gyda ffocws ar gymunedau
sydd wedi bod yn llai tebygol o ymgysylltu a'r Senedd yn flaenorol —a cham ymlaen o
sesiynau addysg sy'n canolbwyntio ar y rheini sydd dros 16 oed.

Bydd Comisiwn y Senedd yn ymchwilio ymhellach i weithio mewn partneriaeth a
sefydliadau allweddol - fel y Comisiwn Etholiadol — yn ystod y cam hwn, i sicrhau nad
yw ymdrechion yn cael eu dyblygu, ac er mwyn cynyddu cyrhaeddiad. Gallai hyn
gynnwys cydweithio ar adnoddau addysg a digwyddiadau, a rhannu gwybodaeth am
ymgyrchoedd marchnata.

Cam Tri — Cyflwyno Senedd Ddiwygiedig (Mai 2026 — Hydref 2026)

Bydd y cam hwn yn canolbwyntio ar godi ymwybyddiaeth o'r Senedd, a'r hyn y gall ei
wneud i gefnogi pobl a'u cymunedau.

Cyda'r newid mwyaf yn debygol o fod o amgylch Aelodau a'u hetholaethau, bydd y
cam hwn yn canolbwyntio'n enwedig ar gefnogi pobl i ddod o hyd i'w Haelodau, a'r
hyny gall eu Haelodau ei wneud i'w cefnogi. Bydd hon yn ymdrech a ffocws ar draws
pob sianel, gan gynnwys hysbysebu digidol, cyfryngau lleol, ymgysylltu a'r gymuned,
ac ymweliadau a theithiau.

Tudalen y pecyn 13



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur i'r nodi 2.5 | Paper to note 2.5
Costau

Mae'r Asesiad Effaith Rheoleiddiol ar gyfer y Bil SC(RhYE) yn cynnwys costau codi
ymwybyddiaeth y cyhoedd mewn perthynas a deddfwriaeth diwygio'r Senedd. Nid
oes unrhyw gostau pellach wedi'u nodi ar gyfer y Bil SC(RhYE).

Cwestiwn 3: Yng ngoleuni'r cynnydd tebygol yn nifer yr Aelodau o'r Senedd sydd a
chyfrifoldebau gofalu am blant a babanod, a roddwyd unrhyw ystyriaeth i wneud
addasiadau i ystad y Senedd, megis darparu cyfleuster creche ar y safle, neu
gynyddu'r ddarpariaeth parcio hygyrch, ystafelloedd teulu, a chyfleusterau ar gyfer
bwydo ary fron a thynnu llaeth?

Ymateb: Mewn ymateb i gynigion Diwygio'r Senedd, mae Prosiect Ty Hywel 26 wedi'i
sefydlu o fewn rhaglen Ffyrdd o Weithio Comisiwn y Senedd. Cwmpas y prosiect hwn
—sy'n nodi'r amserlenni heriol ar gyfer cyflawni erbyn dechrau 2026 — yw darparu lle
swyddfa ychwanegol ar gyfer y cynnydd posibl yn nifer yr Aelodau a'u staff cymorth,
gan hefyd ddarparu lle i staff Comisiwn y Senedd, a digon o le ar gyfer nifer gynyddol
o Weinidogion a swyddogion Llywodraeth Cymru. Ceisir ymmgynghori ag Aelodau ar
eu hanghenion mewn nifer o ffyrdd, gan gynnwys sesiynau galw heibio yn y Cwrt,
grwpiau cyfeirio Aelodau a gweithdai ar gyfer prosiectau Ty Hywel a'r Siambr. Fe fydd
y prosiect Ty Hywel yn ystyried addasiadau priodol pe bai yna ddymuniad gan
Aelodau i'r perwyl hynny.

O fewn y rhaglen Ffyrdd o Weithio, mae Comisiwn y Senedd hefyd wedi sefydlu
prosiect Bae Caerdydd 2032. Bydd y gwaith hwn yn nodi ac yn cyflawni anghenion
hirdymor y Senedd o ran ystad a llety, gan gynnwys ystyried ystod eang o gyfleusterau
sydd eu hangen i gefnogi'r Senedd a'i Haelodau, o fewn y paramedrau cyllido y
cytunwyd arnynt gany Senedd. Ar yr adeg briodol yn natblygiad y prosiect, bydd
Comisiwn y Senedd yn ymagysylltu'n fanwl a grwpiau'r pleidiau i sicrhau bod
anghenion yr Aelodau’'n cael eu hadlewyrchu'n llawn yny cynlluniau ar gyfer unrhyw
opsiwn llety arfaethedig yn y dyfodol.

Cwestiwn 4: A roddwyd unrhyw ystyriaeth i fiyrdd o weithio'r Senedd yn y dyfodol i
fynd i'r afael a rhwystrau a allai fel arall atal menywod a grwpiau heb gynrychiolaeth
ddigonol rhag sefyll mewn etholiad, megis amserlennu busnes y Senedd, arferion
gweithio hyblyg a datblygiadau technolegol arloesol?

Ymateb: Mewn perthynas ag unrhyw rwystrau a allai gael eu cyflwyno gan
weithdrefnau'r Senedd, bu'r Pwyllgor Busnes yn ystyried papur ar barodrwydd
gweithdrefnol ar gyfer diwygio'r Senedd ym mis Tachwedd 2023 a chytunodd, mewn
egwyddor, i ddechrau ystyried meysydd diwygio gweithdrefnol yn hydref 2024.

Mae'r ddeddfwriaeth ddiwygio — ar ei ffurf bresennol — yn cynnwys nifer o
ddarpariaethau a fydd, os caiff ei phasio, yn golygu bod angen gwneud newidiadau i
weithdrefnau'r Senedd, gan gynnwys diwygiadau i'r Rheolau Sefydlog a chanllawiau
cysylltiedig.

Er bod paramedrau’r adolygiad hwn yn cael eu datblygu ar hyn o bryd, bydd angen i'r
Pwyllgor Busnes gymryd y camu a ganlyn, o leiaf:

Tudalen y pecyn 14



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur i'r nodi 2.5 | Paper to note 2.5
= Adolygu'r Rheolau Sefydlog a'r canllawiau cysylltiedig yng ngoleuni'r
ddeddfwriaeth Diwygio'r Senedd, unwaith y caiff ei phasio; a hefyd

= cynnig newidiadau i Reolau Sefydlog y Senedd i sicrhau nad oes unrhyw
rwystrau gweithdrefnol i weithrediad y Seithfed Senedd.

Fel rhan o'r gwaith y mae'n ei wneud i gwmpasu'r adolygiad hwn, bydd y Pwyllgor
Busnes yn ystyried, ymhlith pethau eraill, a ddylid cynnwys materion fel trefnu busnes
yn wahanol a/neu ystyried effaith unrhyw newidiadau gweithdrefnol presennol, neu
newidiadau gweithdrefnol posibl, ar allu'r Senedd i ddenu ystod mor eang ac
amrywiol o Aelodau a phosibl.

At hynny, ym mis Mai 2022, gwnaeth y Pwyllgor Diben Arbennig ar Ddiwygio'r Senedd
argymhelliad i'r Pwyllgor Busnes y dylai ystyried y materion ymarferol a gweithdrefnol
sy'n gysylltiedig a dau Aelod yn rhannu swydd benodol (megis rél Cadeirydd
Pwyllgor), gan nodi effaith gadarnhaol bosibl hynny ar amrywiaeth yr ymgeiswyr sy'n
sefyll etholiad fel rheswm dros archwilio'r maes hwn ymhellach. Mae'r mater wedi'i
ychwanegu at flaenraglen waith weithdrefnol y Pwyllgor Busnes, a disgwylir iddo gael
el ystyried yn 2024.

Ers hynny, mae darpariaeth yn ymwneud ag adolygiad o drefniadau rhannu swyddi
posibl (a dal swyddi dros dro) sy'n ymwneud a'r Senedd wedi'i chynnig yn y Bil
SC(RNhYE). Ym mis lonawr 2024, argymhellodd y Pwyllgor Biliau Diwygio y dylid
diwygio Bil SC(RhYE) i gael gwared ar y mecanwaith ar gyfer adolygu trefniadau
rhannu swyddi posibl sy'n ymwneud a'r Senedd. At hynny, argymhellodd y dylai'r
Pwyllgor Busnes ystyried cynnig sefydlu pwyllgor newydd yn y Senedd hon i archwilio
materion sy'n ymwneud a rhannu swydd a dal swydd dros dro, neu ofyn i un o
bwyllgorau presennol y Senedd sydd a chylch gorchwyl perthnasol i gynnal y gwaith.
Derbyniodd y Pwyllgor Busnes yr argymhelliad hwn, gan nodiy byddai'n ystyried y
cais a wnaed pan fyddai sicrwydd ynghylch y newidiadau deddfwriaethol (rhagwelir
mai yn ystod tymor yr haf 2024 y bydd hyn).

Yny cyfamser, gan fod cadeiryddion pwyllgorau yn rolau anstatudol ac felly nad oes
angen newidiadau deddfwriaethol i'w galluogi i rannu swyddi, mae'r Pwyllgor Busnes
wedi cynnal ystyriaeth gychwynnol o gynigion ar gyfer rnannu swydd cadeiryddion
pwyllgorau. Roedd y gwaith cynnar hwn yn cynnwys ystyried gwybodaeth a
gyflwynwyd i bwyllgorau'r Senedd, ac mewn mannau eraill yn ymwneud ag effaith
rhannu swyddi ar hygyrchedd a hyblygrwydd rolau, ac amrywiaeth y rheini sy'n eu
cyflogi. Bydd y Pwyllgor Busnes yn dychwelyd at y gwaith hwn i raddau manylach, yn
ystod tymor yr haf 2024.

Dylid nodi bod trefniadaeth busnesy Senedd a'r amserlen fel arfer yn faterion i'r
Pwyllgor Busnes a'r Senedd benderfynu arnynt ar ddechrau ei thymor. Ym mis
GCorffennaf 2022, cytunodd y Senedd ar nifer o newidiadau i'r Rheolau Sefydlog a oedd
wedi'u cynnig gan y Pwyllgor Busnes yn dilyn adolygiad o Reol Sefydlog 34 dros dro, a
chyfranogiad Aelodau o bell yn nhrafodion y Senedd, y naill a'r llall wedi'u cyflwyno
mewn ymateb i bandemig Covid-19. Ar 6l ymmgynghori ag Aelodau, grwpiau'r pleidiau
ac eraill, cynigiodd y Pwyllgor Busnes y dylid cynnal y gallu i Aelodau gymryd rhan o
bell yn y Cyfarfod Llawn a chyfarfodydd pwyllgor. Ar &l i'r Senedd gytuno ar
newidiadau i'r Rheolau Sefydlog, cyhoeddwyd canllawiau ar drafodion rhithwir a
hybrid o dan Reol Sefydlog 6.17. Mae'r Pwyllgor Busnes wedi nodi y bydd hyn yn cael
ei adolygu'n barhaus yng ngoleuni profiad yn ystod y Chweched Senedd.

Tudalen y pecyn 15



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur i'r nodi 2.5 | Paper to note 2.5
O ran arloesiadau technolegol, mae Comisiwn y Senedd yn defnyddio amrywiaeth o
dechnolegau sy'n helpu i gael gwared ar y rhwystrau i gyfranogiad ym musnes y
Senedd, a allai fel arall atal unigolion neu grwpiau rhag sefyll etholiad.

Mae mesurau seiberddiogelwch cadarn wedi galluogi Comisiwn y Senedd i ddarparu
offer TGCh sy'n galluogi cyfathrebu a chydweithio diogel a di-dor o unrhyw leoliad a
chysylltiad i'r rhyngrwyd. Mae fideo-gynadledda, negeseuon gwib, a llwyfannau
cydweithio rhithwir megis Microsoft Teams a Zoom yn hwyluso rhyngweithiadau
amser real, gan ganiatau i Aelodau weithio o wahanol leoliadau. Mae hyn yn ymestyn |
drafodion seneddol ffurfiol fel Cyfarfod Llawn a chyfarfodydd pwyllgor, gan ganiatau i
Aelodau gymryd rhan yn llawn o bell, gan gynnwys pleidleisio.

Mewn ymateb i gynigion Diwygio'r Senedd, mae Prosiect Siamlbr 2026 wedi'i sefydlu o
fewny Rhaglen Ffyrdd o Weithio. Bydd y prosiect hwn yn darparu siambr estynedig, a
fydd yn gallu cynnwys 96 o Aelodau. Yn ganolog i'r prosiect hwn mae gwelliannau i'r
technolegau sy'n sail i'r Cyfarfodydd Llawn, a'r angen i sicrhau bod unrhyw newid yn
ystyried anghenion pawb a allai fod yn dymuno sefyll etholiad i'r Senedd. Bydd
asesiadau effaith cydraddoldeb llawn yn cael eu cwblhau ar gyfer y ddau brosiect
wrth iddynt wneud cynnydd.

Fel llawer o sefydliadau, mae Comisiwn y Senedd yn ceisio harneisio manteision Al
cynhyrchiol. Rhagwelir y bydd Aelodau’'r Senedd yn gallu harneisio’r gwelliannau
awtomeiddio ac effeithlonrwydd y gall y technolegau hyn eu cyflawni, gan ddileu
llawer o dasgau beichus, arferol a rhyddhau amser Aelodau.

Bydd yr holl dechnolegau hyn yn buddio o welliannau yn y dyfodol, a byddant yn
parhau i addasu i ganiatau i Aelodau ymgymryd a'u rél mewn ffordd sy'n gweddu i'w
hanghenion penodol, ac i anghenion eu hetholwyr.

Tudalen y pecyn 16



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

Eitem 3

SCECLB5 - P 5050Amrywiol

Senedd Cymru | Welsh Parliament

Ymateb gan 5050Amrywiol | Evidence from Diverse5050 (Saesneg yn unig)

Tudalen y pecyn 17


https://senedd.cymru/pwyllgorau/y-pwyllgor-biliau-diwygio/
https://senedd.wales/committees/reform-bill-committee/
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=549
https://business.senedd.wales/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=549
https://business.senedd.wales/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=549

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

4. Your opinion

To assist with our inquiry, the Committee would welcome your views on any or all of the
following points:

Some helpful things to be aware of before you start answering the consultation questions:

e You do not need to answer every question, only those on which you wish to share
information or have a view.

e If you provide any information that you feel is not suitable for public disclosure,
please indicate which parts should not be published and give your reasons for this.

General principles

1. What are your views on the general principles of the Bill and the need for
legislation to deliver the Welsh Government'’s stated policy objective (to make the
Senedd a more effective legislature by ensuring it is broadly representative of the
gender make-up of the population)?

(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

We are fully supportive of the general principles and stated policy objective of the Bill,
which is to make the Senedd a more effective legislature for, and on behalf of, the people
of Wales by aiming to ensure that the Senedd is broadly representative of the gender
make-up of the Welsh population. Without robust measures to encourage the election of
a Senedd that better reflects the Welsh population, the potential of reform proposals to
deliver a more effective legislature for the people of Wales will be deeply compromised.
The provision for legislative gender quotas set out in the Bill comprises the single most
effective measure towards achieving this and are therefore central to delivering the overall
policy objective of Senedd reform.

The role of the Bill within Senedd reform

The Bill is a central element of a package of Senedd Reform proposals which would jointly
achieve the shared policy objective of making the Senedd a more effective legislature.
Most of the proposals would be delivered through the Senedd Cymru (Members and
Elections) Bill, which is currently at Stage 3 of the legislative process. This includes the
expansion of the Senedd from 60 to 96 members, which would increase the Senedd's
capacity to properly scrutinise legislation and policy and can ultimately translate into
better frontline public services and better value for money for the people in Wales.

Tudalen y pecyn 18



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

As we have highlighted in several previous submissions, the potential benefits of Senedd
expansion will only be fully realised if the expansion goes hand in hand with well-designed
measures to encourage the election of a Senedd that better reflects the population of
Wales, including with regard to gender. In a submission to the Committee on Senedd
Electoral Reform in 2020, ERS Cymru argued that the diversity of a future Senedd must go
“hand in hand” with electoral reform and capacity increase.” WEN Wales, in response to
the same consultation, argued that “women'’s participation and the success of women as
candidates in elections are vital indicators of the health of a representative democracy.”?

This point has been recognised throughout the findings of the Expert Panel on Electoral
Reform, the Committee on Senedd Electoral Reform, and the Special Purpose Committee.
It is further supported by a wealth of evidence on the positive impact of women'’s
representation on the legitimacy and effectiveness of legislatures. A full review of this
evidence would be outside the scope of this submission, but details can be found in the
reports of the aforementioned bodies and submissions, as well as in the Explanatory
Memorandum accompanying the Bill.

Why legislative quotas are needed to deliver the stated policy objective

The evidence is equally clear on the point that achieving a legislature that better reflects
the gender make-up of the population is best achieved through legislative gender quotas.
Gender quotas have been found to be the “single most effective tool for ‘fast tracking’
women'’s representation in elected bodies for government” and are used by over 130
countries worldwide.? The majority of these countries use legislative as opposed to
voluntary quotas, either in the form of legislative candidate quotas or less commonly
through reserved seats.# The evidence also suggests that legislative gender quotas benefit
women from marginalised communities, while voluntary gender quotas at party level do
not have the same impact.”

TERS Cymru (2020), Electing a more diverse Senedd. Consultation Response,
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s102091/DIV9%2001%20Electoral%20Reform%20Society%20Cymru.pdf

2 WEN Wales (2020), Electing a more diverse Senedd. Consultation Response,
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s102095/DIV%2005%20Womens%20Equality%20Network%20Wales.pdf
3 International IDEA. Gender Quotas Database, retrieved 27 Mar 2024. https://www.idea.int/data-
tools/data/gender-quotas; Drude Dahlerup et al. (2013), Atlas of Electoral Gender Quotas, International Institute for
Democracy and Electoral Assistance [IDEA], IPU and Stockholm University.

4 International IDEA. 2020. Gender Quotas Database, retrieved 27 Mar 2024. https://www.idea.int/data-
tools/data/gender-quotas;

> Hughes, M. (2011). Intersectionality, quotas, and minority women'’s political representation worldwide. American
Political Science Review, 105(3):604-20.

Tudalen y pecyn 19


https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s102091/DIV%2001%20Electoral%20Reform%20Society%20Cymru.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s102095/DIV%2005%20Womens%20Equality%20Network%20Wales.pdf
https://www.idea.int/data-tools/data/gender-quotas
https://www.idea.int/data-tools/data/gender-quotas
https://www.idea.int/data-tools/data/gender-quotas
https://www.idea.int/data-tools/data/gender-quotas

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

Data from the 2021 Senedd election shows that women's underrepresentation was more
pronounced at the candidacy stage than after the election.® Women made up only 31% of
candidates but managed to secure 42% of seats. This means that, once given the chance
to stand, women were, on average, more successful than men at winning elections. This
suggests the key bottleneck for women'’s underrepresentation in Wales is parties’
candidate selection rather than voter bias. Legislative candidate quotas are the only tool
that would be both effective and specific in addressing this major barrier to the election of
a Senedd that reflects the gender make-up of the Welsh population. The implementation
of legislative gender quotas will become even more important given that the provisions in
the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill to introduce a closed proportional list
voting system would increase the influence of political parties (vis-a-vis the electorate)
over the gender and diversity make-up of the Senedd.’

While voluntary quotas have been used by some individual parties in Wales, they have
failed to deliver consistent, long-term results. Since devolution, women have been
underrepresented in all but one Senedd election and remain so to this day. This is
unsurprising. Unless ambitious voluntary quotas are used by all political parties, their
effectiveness is dependent on the electoral success of specific parties. More generally, the
use of voluntary quotas is, by definition, always at the discretion of parties, which is why
they can never offer a long-term guarantee for women'’s representation. As better
representation of the gender make-up of Wales’ population has been found to be a
central pillar of the Senedd’s future legitimacy and effectiveness, it cannot be left at the

discretion of individual parties. Legislative quotas are necessary.

Enforcement and compliance

As part of the nominations process, candidates would be required to make a statement
about whether they are a woman or not a woman. This statement will be used as the basis
for enforcing the rules. Constituency Returning Officers (CROs) will take these statements
at 'face value’, meaning that they would not undertake any investigation into whether the
information provided by a candidate is correct. CROs would be responsible for verifying
that a minimum of 50% of candidates on each list have made a statement that they are

® Senedd Research (2021), How diverse is the Sixth Senedd? https://research senedd wales/research-
articles/election-2021-how-diverse-is-the-sixth-senedd

TWEN Wales (2023), Response to the Consultation on the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill,
https://wenwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/WEN-Consultation-response-on-the-Senedd-Cymru-
Members-and-Elections-Bill.pdf.

Tudalen y pecyn 20


https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/election-2021-how-diverse-is-the-sixth-senedd
https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/election-2021-how-diverse-is-the-sixth-senedd
https://wenwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/WEN-Consultation-response-on-the-Senedd-Cymru-Members-and-Elections-Bill.pdf
https://wenwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/WEN-Consultation-response-on-the-Senedd-Cymru-Members-and-Elections-Bill.pdf

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

women, and that the vertical rule is met. If a list does not comply, the CRO will be able to
invalidate the nomination papers.

For the national quotas, the Bill gives the Welsh Government the power to appoint a
National Nominations Compliance Officer (NNCO). This role would oversee compliance
with the horizonal rule. If a political party’s lists do not comply with the rule, they will be
given the opportunity to re-order one or more list to make them compliant. If they do not,
then one or more lists would be chosen by the NNCO and re-ordered by the relevant CRO.

2. What are your views on the system of enforcement and potential sanctions for
non-compliance proposed in the Bill?

(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

The proposed system of enforcement and potential sanctions for non-compliance,
including the practice of taking gender statements at ‘face value’, is appropriate and in
accordance with international practice.

At the level of individual party lists, we would expect the rejection of non-compliant lists
by the Constituency Returning Officer to be a highly effective enforcement mechanism as
parties would not be able to stand candidates in a particular constituency unless they
submit a compliant list. A potential alternative sanction to list rejection would be the use
of financial sanctions, as done e.g. in Ireland.? Lack of relevant state funding for political
parties in Wales means financial sanctions would not be feasible. In addition, financial
sanctions would allow parties to proceed to an election with non-compliant lists if they are
willing and able to make the financial sacrifice. This is not a possibility with list rejection,

making it arguably a more effective enforcement mechanism.

At the horizontal level, the appointment of a National Nominations Compliance Officer to
ensure compliance via the proposed process appears appropriate. As parties become more
familiar with the new system, consideration could be given as to whether the process can
be streamlined.

The Bill's implementation

8 National Women'’s Council (2021), Candidate Gender Quota for Local Elections Briefing paper,
https://data.oireachtas.ie/ie/oireachtas/committee/dail/33/joint_committee_on_housing_local_government_and_heri
tage/submissions/2021/2021-07-28_submission-national-women-s-council-hlgh-369a-2021_en.pdf.

Tudalen y pecyn 21


https://data.oireachtas.ie/ie/oireachtas/committee/dail/33/joint_committee_on_housing_local_government_and_heritage/submissions/2021/2021-07-28_submission-national-women-s-council-hlgh-369a-2021_en.pdf
https://data.oireachtas.ie/ie/oireachtas/committee/dail/33/joint_committee_on_housing_local_government_and_heritage/submissions/2021/2021-07-28_submission-national-women-s-council-hlgh-369a-2021_en.pdf

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

The Regulatory Impact Assessment is set out in Part 2 of the Explanatory Memorandum
(https://senedd.wales/media/xp4dqgjto/pri-ld16394-em-e.pdf). This includes the Welsh
Government's assessments of the financial and other impacts of the Bill and its
implementation.

3. Are there any potential barriers to the implementation of the Bill’'s provisions? If
so, what are they, and are they adequately taken into account in the Bill and the
accompanying Explanatory Memorandum and Regulatory Impact Assessment?

(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

The Explanatory Memorandum comprehensively addresses a range of potential impacts
relating to the implementation of the Bill's provisions. But there are several aspects
relating to the costs and benefits of the Bill that require further consideration.

The Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) sets out the costs and benefits for two different
options — business as usual or implementation of the Bill. The RIA recognises that there are
a range on non-monetary benefits as well potential financial savings associated with the
implementation of the Bill. As detailed under Question 1, this is because better gender
representation would make the Senedd a more effective legislature, which in turn can be
expected to achieve better value for money. The RIA recognises that these benefits and
savings could be incurred as potential opportunity costs in the “business as usual”
scenario.

However, we would add there is a risk that the “business as usual” scenario (not
implementing the Bill) could incur costs above and beyond the stated opportunity costs.
This is due to a risk that Senedd expansion without parallel implementation of the Bill
could easily lead to a Senedd that is less representative of the population of Wales than is
currently the case, both in terms of gender and potentially with regard to other protected
characteristics. There is a further risk that any potential regression would likely be
entrenched for years to come.

The risk is explicitly recognised elsewhere in the Explanatory Memorandum, which states:

31.As men typically outnumber women as candidates at Senedd elections, there is a risk that
without the introduction of quotas the planned significant expansion of the Senedd, increasing
the number of MSs from 60 to 96, will lead to a greater gender imbalance than at present.

We would stretch that men currently significantly outnumber women as candidates at all
levels of Welsh elections. Without the introduction of quotas, and the accompanying work

Tudalen y pecyn 22


https://senedd.wales/media/xp4dqjto/pri-ld16394-em-e.pdf

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

of parties to attract more women as candidates, we would expect an imbalance in the
pipeline of potential candidates for the 2026 Senedd election. This imbalance could easily
result in men securing an even greater share of seats than in previous Senedd elections. In
addition, gender quotas have been found to have a positive impact on diversity by
encouraging the election of women from marginalised communities, and could provide an

impetus for parties to consider wider diversity in candidate selection.®

A failure to introduce gender quotas in parallel with Senedd expansion could therefore
easily result in a regression in terms of gender diversity and could also have potential
negative impacts on wider diversity. In either case, the “business as usual” scenario would
result in a Senedd that is less representative of the Welsh population. As set out in the
response to Question 1, research and scrutiny work on Senedd reform found that being
less representative of the population would make the Senedd a less effective legislature
along various dimensions. This means the “"business as usual” scenario could incur non-
monetary and financial costs beyond the opportunity costs acknowledged in the RIA.

Due to the impact of an amplified incumbency overhang, this net loss of diversity —and, in
turn, legitimacy and effectiveness — could be entrenched far beyond the election at which
the Senedd is first expanded. Incumbency overhang is an effect described by Laura
McAllister, which creates a bias towards the existing demographic composition of a
legislature.'® If the existing underrepresentation of women and other marginalised groups
is increased as the Senedd expands, the incumbency overhang that is already working
against these demographics would be amplified. This means a failure to implement gender
quotas in parallel with Senedd expansion could set us on the path of a downward spiral in
terms of diversity of representation. Any opportunity costs and potential additional costs
of a less representative Senedd could become entrenched for years to come. Future
measures needed to address the set-back in diversity of representation would incur costs
on top of these, and they could be higher due to the magnitude of the challenges having

increased in the meantime.

 Hughes, M. (2011). Intersectionality, quotas, and minority women'’s political representation worldwide. American
Political Science Review, 105(3):604-20; Krook, M. L., & Nugent, M. K. (2016). Intersectional institutions: Representing
women and ethnic minorities in the British Labour Party. Party Politics, 22(5), 620-630.

O WEN Wales (2023), Response to the Consultation on the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill,
https://wenwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/WEN-Consultation-response-on-the-Senedd-Cymru-
Members-and-Elections-Bill.pdf.

Tudalen y pecyn 23


https://wenwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/WEN-Consultation-response-on-the-Senedd-Cymru-Members-and-Elections-Bill.pdf
https://wenwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/WEN-Consultation-response-on-the-Senedd-Cymru-Members-and-Elections-Bill.pdf

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

4. Are any unintended consequences likely to arise from the Bill?
(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

Impact on trans and non-binary candidates

At face value, the provisions in the Bill would offer the opportunity for trans and non-
binary people to stand for Senedd elections as who they are, which is to be welcomed.
However, we are concerned that, in the present climate, there is an increased risk for
people with certain gender identities to have their election challenged in various ways,
including through an election petition. As the Bill and relevant subordinate legislation
progresses through the Senedd, we urge that every effort is made to protect the privacy
and safety of trans and non-binary people as part of the electoral process.

Impact on wider diversity

While there is evidence that gender quotas alone have some positive impact on the
representation of women who face intersecting discrimination, the effect of incumbency
overhang and wider societal factors and barriers could lead to a situation whereby the Bill
could in practice benefit women who occupy relatively privileged social positions more
than those who face intersecting discrimination. To prevent this potential unintended
consequence, it is imperative that wider measures to advance diversity and inclusion in
elected office are implemented in parallel to the progression of the Bill. Further details on
this are discussed in response to Question 9.

5. What are your views on the Welsh Government’s assessment of the financial and
other impacts of the Bill?
(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

The accompanying documents provide assessments of the financial and other impacts of
the Bill. Our focus has been on the equality and justice impact assessments, which are
detailed and comprehensive. The findings were generally in line with our own
understanding of the potential impacts of the Bill on different groups of women, which are
overwhelmingly positive and have the potential to generate additional benefits for people
with other protected characteristics.

We would emphasise that, while the Bill alone may have some positive impact on people
with other protected characteristics, it is imperative that these are leveraged through other
diversity and inclusion measures that need to be rolled out at pace to take effect prior to

Tudalen y pecyn 24



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

Senedd expansion. This is particularly important to ensure that the Bill will encourage the
election of women who experience intersecting discrimination, as they often face
additional barriers to elected office and are especially underrepresented.!” For instance,
women under 40 make up only 6.1% of the world’s MPs.'? In countries without any quota
legislation, the odds of being elected for women from racial, ethnic or religious minorities
are 1in 14 compared to men from a majority (non-minority) background, 1 in 3 compared
to women from a majority (non-minority) background, and 1 in 2 compared to men from
minority backgrounds (relative to their share in the overall population).™

As discussed under Question 4, we echo the concern that, in the present climate, the
provision in the Bill could lead to negative impacts on people with certain gender
identities, including on trans women, and these risks need to be managed very carefully.

Subordinate legislation

The powers to make subordinate legislation are set out in Part 1: Chapter 5 of the
Explanatory Memorandum (https://senedd.wales/media/xp4dqjto/pri-ld16394-em-e.pdf).

The Welsh Government has also set out its statement of policy intent for subordinate
legislation
(https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s146049/Statement%200f%20Policy%20Intent
%20PDF,%20313KB.pdf).

6. What are your views on the balance between the information contained on the
face of the Bill and what is left to subordinate legislation? Are the powers for Welsh
Ministers to make subordinate legislation appropriate?

(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

Other considerations

TWEN Wales (2022), Diversity Quotas Briefing,
https://wenwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/DiversityQuotas.WenWales.Final_.pdf

2 1PU (2020), Young women's political participation and leadership, https://www.ipu.org/content/objective-6-2020.
3 Hughes, M. (2011). Intersectionality, quotas and minority women’s political representation worldwide. American
Political Science Review 105(3), 604-620.

Tudalen y pecyn 25


https://senedd.wales/media/xp4dqjto/pri-ld16394-em-e.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s146049/Statement%20of%20Policy%20Intent%20PDF,%20313KB.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s146049/Statement%20of%20Policy%20Intent%20PDF,%20313KB.pdf
https://wenwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/DiversityQuotas.WenWales.Final_.pdf
https://www.ipu.org/content/objective-6-2020

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

‘Legislative Competence'’ is the term used to describe the scope of the Senedd's power to
legislate. The ‘Reserved Powers Model’ established by the Wales Act

2017 (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/4/contents) allows the Senedd to
legislate on matters that are not reserved to the UK Parliament. A provision in a Senedd Bill
is unable to modify the law on reserved matters
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/32/schedule/7B/paragraph/1).

7. Do you have any views on matters relating to the legislative competence of the
Senedd including compatibility with the European Convention on Human Rights?
(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

In 2022, WEN Wales and ERS Cymru instructed Christian J Howells, a public and
constitutional law specialist at 30 Park Place Chambers, to provide a legal opinion on
whether the Senedd has legislative competence to pass legislation in relation to quotas for
gender and other protected characteristics.

The legal opinion was submitted to the Special Purpose Committee on Senedd Reform
and a copy has been attached. Further information will be supplemented in due course.

8. Do you have any views on matters related to the quality of the legislation, or to
the constitutional or other implications of the Bill?
(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

9. Are there any other issues that you would like to raise about the Bill, the
accompanying Explanatory Memorandum and Regulatory Impact Assessment, or any
related matters?

(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)
The impact of party selection procedures

It has been suggested that the Bill could potentially result in an underrepresentation of
men because it allows women to take up more than 50% of places on each candidate list
and more than 50% of top places in lists overall. We anticipate that the risks of this
occurring are slim, because the number of candidates of each gender that are being
elected will partly be driven by who is being placed in winnable seats. Subject to the
horizontal placement criteria, placement into winnable seats will remain at the discretion
of individual parties. Evidence from Wales and other nations suggests that parties tend to

Tudalen y pecyn 26



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

place more men in winnable seats and there is no reason to expect that this practice will
fully cease with the implementation of the Bill.

The Explanatory Memorandum recognises that, in theory “a party could fulfil the
requirements of the minimum threshold and placement criteria and still see up to 8 more
candidates who are not women elected than those who are women.” While an impact of
this magnitude is only expected in very specific circumstances, the Explanatory
Memorandum acknowledges that “political parties have a key role to play through the
candidate selection process and the formulation of constituency party lists in ensuring that
women candidates are placed in winnable seats and in winnable constituencies if the
legislation is to fully meet its purpose.”

This suggests that, rather than there being a chance of tipping the balance too far, there
remains a risk that the provisions in the Bill would not go far enough to secure 50%
representation for women. We recommend that this aspect should be closely monitored as
part of the post-implementation review. If the vertical and horizontal placement criteria in
the Bill are found to be insufficient to facilitate the election of a Senedd that reflects the
gender make-up of the Welsh population, consideration should be given to the
introduction of an additional placement criterion that requires that women are placed in at
least 50% of winnable seats. Such a criterion could make references to established metrics
of winnable seats, such as seats requiring less than a 5% swing to win.™

Support for women candidates

As the existing literature on Senedd reform recognises, women face a range of barriers to
elected office and these are amplified for women who experience intersecting
discrimination. While the provisions in this Bill would specifically and effectively address
one major barrier — candidate selection processes — they would have no direct impact on
other barriers, such as the disproportionate exposure to harassment and abuse, the lack of
support with caring responsibilities, and other elements of political and wider culture that
compound additional challenges in women’s candidacy and their work as elected
members. If these barriers are not addressed, there is a significant risk that parties may
struggle to attract women candidates, that women will be less likely to seek re-election,
and that they will face barriers in seeking senior positions. It is therefore imperative that
measures to address other barriers are implemented at pace, alongside the progression of
the Bill.

¥ English, P. (2022), High rejection, low selection: How ‘punitive parties’ shape ethnic minority representation, Party
Politics 28(2), 294-305, https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/1354068820973857.

Tudalen y pecyn 27


https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/1354068820973851

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

We would envisage that an appropriate suite of measures should encompass a financial
assistance scheme for candidates with caring responsibilities, opportunities for job-
sharing, a review of standards and grievance procedures, measures to tackle harassment
and abuse and ensure candidate safety, and targeted mentoring and training
opportunities. Special consideration should be given to ensure these measures effectively
support women from a diverse range of backgrounds and are tailored to address the
impact of intersecting discrimination.

Wider diversity measures

Achieving the overall policy objective of Senedd reform depends on the extent to which
reform proposals will succeed in making the Senedd representative of the Welsh
population in all its diversity. This will only be possible if the gender provisions in the Bill
go hand in hand with initiatives to encourage the election of candidates with different
protected characteristics and from different marginalised communities.

The Diverse5050 Campaign has called for the implementation of quotas relating to other
protected characteristics as well as gender quotas. International evidence suggests that
gender quotas and quotas for other protected characteristics can be effectively combined
into intersectionally embedded quotas to encourage the election of a Senedd that fully
reflects the diversity of the Welsh population.”™ The Committee on Senedd Reform and the
Special Purpose Committee recognised the potential benefits of quotas for protected
characteristics other than gender to encourage the election of a more diverse Senedd.
Both Committees recommended that further work should be undertaken to assess the
feasibility of such quotas. To date, this work has not been commenced, nor does the Bill
include provisions to ensure it would be progressed following the passing of the Bill.

As well as assessing the feasibility of quotas for other protected characteristics, we would
urge the Welsh Government to swiftly develop robust guidance on political parties’
diversity and inclusion strategies, the implementation of the provisions to promote
diversity in the Elections and Elected Bodies (Wales) Bill, and measures for the collection
and publication of anonymised candidate diversity data.® All measures should align with
the commitments and frameworks set out in the Anti-Racist Wales Action Plan, the
LGBTQ+ Action Plan, the Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence
(VAWDASYV) Strategy, and the Social Model of Disability.

> WEN Wales (2022), Diversity Quotas Briefing,
https://wenwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/DiversityQuotas. WenWales.Final_.pdf.

6 WEN Wales (2023), Elections and Elected Bodies (Wales) Bill Consultation Response, https://wenwales.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2023/11/WEN-consultation-response-on-the-Elections-and-Elected-Bodies-Wales-Bill.pdf.

Tudalen y pecyn 28


https://wenwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/DiversityQuotas.WenWales.Final_.pdf
https://wenwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/WEN-consultation-response-on-the-Elections-and-Elected-Bodies-Wales-Bill.pdf
https://wenwales.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/WEN-consultation-response-on-the-Elections-and-Elected-Bodies-Wales-Bill.pdf

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

About Diverse5050

The award-winning Diverse5050 campaign is a coalition campaign in partnership between
the Women'’s Equality Network (WEN) Wales, the Ethnic Minorities and Youth Support
Team (EYST) Wales, the Electoral Reform Society Cymru and Race Council Cymru. Its aim is
to ensure that Wales elects politicians at a local, Westminster and Senedd level that are
gender balanced, with meaningful representation from people with protected
characteristics and marginalised communities.

About our partners

Women's Equality Network (WEN) Wales: Our vision is of a Wales free from gender
discrimination where all have equal authority and opportunity to shape society and their
own lives. We work with our vibrant coalition of organisational and individual members to
transform society. Our work sits under three pillars. We will Connect, Campaign and
Champion women so our vision is realised.

Ethnic Minorities & Youth Support Team (EYST) provides services and support for
individuals across Wales who identify as ethnic minorities and/or have lived experience as
an asylum seeker or refugee. We provide a range of services including education,
employment, health, family support and community safety, challenge and counter
negative stereotypes about ethnic diversity, and aim to increase awareness and
understanding about the diverse communities who live in Wales.

The Electoral Reform Society (ERS) Cymru operates on a simple premise — that politics can
be better than it is. We are campaigning for a better democracy in Wales, and across the
UK.

Race Council Cymru (RCC) is the overarching umbrella body established by ethnic minority
grassroots communities in Wales to bring key organisations together to combat racial
prejudice, race discrimination, harassment, victimisation, abuse and violence.

Tudalen y pecyn 29



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

ADVICE ON LEGISLATIVE DIVERSITY QUOTAS FOR SENEDD ELECTIONS

1. I am instructed to advise WEN Wales and ERS Cymru on whether the Senedd
can pass legislation in relation to quotas for gender and other protected
characteristics, within the meaning of the Equality Act 2010. They in turn have
been asked by the Senedd Special Purpose Committee on Electoral Reform to

identify any legislative options that may be available.

2. I am of the view that the introduction of mandatory selection arrangements, to
include gender quotas, would arguably be within legislative competence
because:

a. It is arguable that the purpose of such legislation would not relate to a
reserved matter (equality of opportunity) but would relate to Senedd
elections and so would not be caught by section 108A(2)(c) of the
Government of Wales Act 2006 (‘(GoWA’); and

b. It is arguable that such legislation would fall within the exception to
section N1 of Schedule 7A and so would not be caught by s108A(2)(c)
GoWA.

3. Alternatively, it would be open to the Senedd to pass legislation imposing a
duty on political parties to have due regard to the desirability of gender
balanced candidate lists - mandating consideration of utilising section 104 of

the Equality Act 2010.

Purpose of legislation would relate to Senedd elections not equality of opportunity

4. Legislative selection arrangements would probably be introduced by way of
amendment to section 7 and/or 9 GoWA, ‘candidates at general elections’ and
‘allocation of seats to electoral region members’. Those provisions are not protected

by virtue of §7(2)(a)(v) of schedule 7B.

Tudalen y pecyn 30



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

5. Senedd legislation will be outside competence where “it relates to reserved

matters” in schedule 7A; section 108A(2)(c) GoWA.

6. Section 108A(6) provides the test to be applied in determining whether

legislation relates to reserved matters. It provides:

“The question whether a provision of an Act of the Senedd relates to a reserved
matter is determined by reference to the purpose of the provision, having regard
(among other things) to its effect in all the circumstances.”

7. The Supreme Court has on two occasions clarified that the purpose of the
legislation is to be ascertained in the usual way. If the purpose relates to a
matter within devolved competence, then the fact that the legislation also
touches upon reserved matters does not render the legislation outwith
legislative competence:

a. Martin v Most [2010] UKSC 10, (2010) SC (UKSC) 40 was a case where an
increase in the summary sentencing powers of Scottish criminal courts
to 12 months impliedly amended the Road Traffic Offenders Act 1988
which stated that the maximum summary sentence for offences under
the Act was 6 months. The Act was a reserved matter. The Court held
by a majority at §§ 31 and 59 - 60 that as the purpose of the new
legislation was to re-allocate the caseload and reduce pressure on the
higher courts, it was “directed” as Scots law and did not relate to a
reserved matter. Most of what was enacted by the Westminster
Parliament (that it was an offence and the maximum penalty was 12
months) was left untouched;

b. Re Agriculture Sector (Wales) Bill [2014] UKSC 43, [2014] 1 WLR 2622 was
a case where the Welsh Assembly passed legislation setting minimum
terms and conditions of employment in the agricultural sector.
Agriculture was then a conferred power, but employment and industry
were not. The Court accepted at §58 that the bill “might in principle be

e

characterised as relating to “employment” and “industrial relations

Tudalen2y pecyn 31



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

Nevertheless, it held at §§ 65 - 68 that so long as the bill related to a
devolved matter (the scheme of devolution was then a conferred powers
model rather than a reserved powers model) it was within competence
- GoWA at that time did not require that the legislation should only be

categorised as relating a devolved subject.

8. The purpose of legislation can be ascertained by looking at the reports and
papers that brought it about. I have considered the documents: (i) A Parliament
that Works for Wales (November 2017) written by an expert panel on Assembly
Electoral Reform; and (ii) Senedd Reform: The next steps (September 2020) written
by the Senedd Committee on Senedd Electoral Reform. Recommendation 10
of document (i) was “in order to safeguard the achievements of the Assembly
and political parties in Wales in relation to gender-balanced representation,
we recommend that a gender quota is integrated within the electoral system put in place
for 2021.” At §12.19 it stated that it would be anomalous if the Senedd did not
have competence to determine its own electoral arrangements, including
gender quotas. At §12.22 it states “the intention of our proposals for gender
quotas is to ensure that the Assembly is as representative as possible of the people
of Wales”. Read as a whole, the proposals in document (i) were not formulated
to create equality of opportunity, but rather to ensure the Senedd was as

representative as possible of the people of Wales.

9. Depending on the reasons for the legislative proposal going forward, if it can
be said that the purpose of the legislation is to ensure the Senedd is
representative of the electorate, then it can be argued that the purpose of the
legislation relates to Senedd elections and although it may also touch upon
equality of opportunity, that is insufficient to render it outside competence.
The only reservations relating to Senedd elections are set out at §§ 21 - 27 of

section B1 of Schedule 7A and are not relevant here.

Tudalen y pecyn 32



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

10.

11.

12.

Quotas in respect of protected characteristics other than gender need to be
carefully thought through bearing in mind that the Senedd’s competence is
restricted by compatibility with the European Convention on Human Rights
(s108A(2)(e)) and drawing distinctions along other lines requires careful
justification for the purposes of the principle of non-discrimination contained

in article 14 of the Convention.

Section 104 of the Equality Act 2010 ("EA”) allows a political party to introduce
selection arrangements which are designed for the purpose of reducing
inequality in a party’s representation and are proportionate arrangements. The
introduction of mandatory gender quotas in candidate lists for each party in
Wales would not be inconsistent with section 104 EA but would make
additional provision - make such arrangements mandatory rather than
permissible. I do not consider that there would be any modification of section
104 EA by the proposed amendment of sections 7 and 9 GoWA (and so I
disagree with the suggestion to the contrary made at §278 of the report of the
Senedd Committee on Electoral Reform). The Senedd legislation would not
alter the rule laid down in section 104 EA or be in conflict with its unqualified
continuation in force as before, so that section 104 EA has to be understood as

having been in substance amended, superseded, disapplied or repealed; see Re

Withdrawal from the EU (Scotland) Bill [2018] UKSC 64, [2019] AC 1022 at §51.

In any event, even if there were such modification, the Equality Act 2010 is not
protected legislation in §5 of Schedule 7B and so can be modified by the
Senedd, subject to the operation of section 108A(2)(c) and schedule 7A. §2 of
Schedule 7B allows the modification of an enactment the subject matter of
which is a reserved matter if such modification is ancillary to legislation which
does not relate to a reserved matter. Thus, if the effect of an amendment to
sections 7 and 9 GoOWA was an implied amendment of section 104 EA, that

would be permissible.

Tudalerdy pecyn 33



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

13.  However, if such legislation is passed, there is a real risk that the Attorney
General would refer the legislation to the Supreme Court pursuant to section

112 GoWA. That process will take 8 - 12 months to resolve.

Even if purpose related to equality of opportunity, the proposed mandatory

selection arrangement would fall within an exception to the reservation

14.  Schedule 7A sets out the reserved matters but also sets out the exceptions to
those reserved matters. If the legislation falls within the exception, it is not

caught by s108A(2)(d).
15.  Section N1 of schedule 7A materially states:

“Section N1 Equal opportunities
187  Equal opportunities.
Exceptions

The encouragement (other than by prohibition or regulation) of equal
opportunities, and in particular of the observance of the equal opportunity
requirements.

The provision falling within this exception does not include any modification of
the Equality Act 2010, or of any subordinate legislation made under that Act,
but does include —

(a)  provision that supplements or is otherwise additional to
provision made by that Act;

(b)  in particular, provision imposing a requirement to take
action which that Act does not prohibit;

(c)  provision that reproduces or applies an enactment contained in
that Act, with or without modification, without affecting the
enactment as it applies for the purposes of that Act.” [emphasis
added]

16.  If reliance is being placed on the exception because it is accepted, or the
Supreme Court holds, that mandatory selection arrangements would relate to

a reserved matter, then any legislation could not modify the Equality Act 2010,

Tudalen y pecyn 34



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

17.

as the exception expressly says so and §1 of schedule 7B would bite. But the
Senedd can pass a provision which supplements or is otherwise additional
provision and which imposes a requirement to take action which the Equality

Act 2010 does not prohibit.

The first point is that, for the reasons given at §10, a legislative quota would not
modify the Equality Act 2010 - it would be additional provision and would fall
within the exception. Section 104 EA allows selection arrangements by political
parties and the Senedd legislation would only require action already permitted
by the Equality Act 2010. Such mandatory selection arrangements would be an
encouragement of equal opportunity. I have debated whether a mandatory
requirement would amount to regulation, which is not permitted by the
exception, but in light of the fact that it later says such provision does include
a requirement that is not prohibited, then I have come to the conclusion that it
is arguable that mandatory selection arrangements would fall within the

exception of encouragement.

The lesser option of a due regard duty

18.

If it was accepted, or the Supreme Court held, that a mandatory selection
requirement did not fall within the exception of encouragement (because it was
regulation) or because it did amount to a modification of the Equality Act 2010,
then there is the lesser option of introducing a duty on all political parties who
submit a list of candidates to have due regard to the desirability of gender
balanced lists. This would simply be encouraging parties to take advantage of
section 104 EA and it would be open to the parties to decline, so long as they

consider it.

Conclusion

Tudalensy pecyn 35



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 1| Paper1

19.

Accordingly, I am of the view that it is within the legislative competence of the

Senedd to introduce legislation which requires political parties at Senedd

elections to submit candidate lists which are comprised of at least 50% female

candidates. Alternatively, it is within the legislative competence of the Senedd

to impose a duty on political parties to have due regard to the desirability of

implementing selection arrangements in accordance with section 104 of the
Equality Act 2010.

Christian ] Howells

30 Park Place, Cardiff

31 January 2022

Tudalen y pecyn 36



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

SCECLB2 - P Cymdeithas Diwygio Etholiadol Cymru

Senedd Cymru | Welsh Parliament
Y Pwyllgor Biliau Diwygio | Reform Bill Committee

Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol) | Senedd Cymru (Electoral Candidate Lists)

Ymateb gan Cymdeithas Diwygio Etholiadol Cymru | Evidence from Electoral Reform Society
Cymru (Saesneg yn unig)

Tudalen y pecyn 37


https://senedd.cymru/pwyllgorau/y-pwyllgor-biliau-diwygio/
https://senedd.wales/committees/reform-bill-committee/
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=549
https://business.senedd.wales/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=549
https://business.senedd.wales/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=549

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

Electoral
Reform
Soclety
Cymru

Reform Bill Committee’s consultation on the Senedd Cymru (Electoral
Candidate Lists) Bill
ERS Cymru written evidence
April 2024

Introduction

ERS Cymru welcomes the Senedd Cymru (Electoral Candidate Lists) Bill. We
believe that this is an important element of the wider package of democratic reforms
progressing through the Senedd currently. Building a stronger Senedd relies not just
on increasing its capacity but also ensuring that it is representative of people in
Wales.

A key part of a healthy democracy is that our elected representatives reflect the
populations that they serve. Diverse representation brings with it diverse
perspectives and experiences, which aid policy making. When there is gender parity,
political institutions’ decision-making process and their decisions are viewed as more
legitimate.’

The representation of women in the Senedd

Historically the Senedd has done well in terms of the number of women elected. This
peaked following the 2003 election, which saw the then National Assembly for Wales
become the first legislature to reach 50:50 in terms of male and female
representation.

Figure 1. Proportion of women elected at each Senedd election

Year of election Number of women Percentage of women
elected elected (%)

1999 24 40

2003 30 50

2007 28 46.7

2011 25 41.7

2016 25 41.7

2021 26 43.3

' https://www.jstor.org/stable/45132466

Tudalen y pecyn 38 1


https://www.jstor.org/stable/45132466

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

Since the 2003-2007 term the representation of women has dropped, remaining
under 50% consistently. While this is relatively high in terms of representation in
other political institutions, there is no guarantee that this will continue. The relatively
high levels in terms of the representation of women has been reliant on political
parties taking positive action around the selection of their candidates and the
placement of these candidates in winnable constituencies or high on lists.

Figure 2. The representation of women in the Senedd grouped by political party in
each election

Graph showing the % women elected in each Senedd election by Party from 1999 to 2021
@ Welsh Labour @Welsh Conservatives ~ Plaid Cymru [ Welsh Liberal Democrats [ Independent (1) @ Independent (2) @UKIP @ Total
100% 2003 - the Senedd 100k

was the first elected Independent (2

body in the world 1o ’ @

achieve gender

80% balance

60% /6_3.:3% 61.5%

i H Welsh Labour
57.1% ; /”?ﬁ
/\ 50% 51.7%
—a - Total
40% 417 a7 41.7% 43.3%

% of women elected by party

s UKIP

28.6% 27.3%
20% Welsh

18.2% 1g.g3 Conservatives
_ 0% s 8.3%
0% :

) Q) B o > o ~
N R Y. T S ¢

Data taken from The report of the Expert Panel on Assembly Electoral Reform, "A PARLIAMENT THAT WORKS FOR WALES", pg. 120, (2017). Available at:
https://senedd.wales/media/eqbesx|2/a-parliament-that-works-for-wales.pdf

The Welsh Labour party in particular has used measures such as all women
shortlists, twinning and the zipping of lists to increase the number of female
candidates. As Figure 2 shows this has been successful in returning over 50%
women in every Senedd election. The only other party to have achieved over 50%
representation is the Welsh Liberal Democrats in 2016 and 2021, who while having
100% representation of women only had one member each time. Plaid Cymru has
also used measures, including zipping. However, the use of these methods has
reduced over time. The Conservatives, as far as we are aware, have not used any
methods to ensure diversity and, as a result, have the lowest proportion of female
MSs.

Without statutory measures to ensure the representation of women there is always a

risk that the number of female elected representatives could drop further. With a lack
of consistency in how parties are currently using positive action, the relatively high

Tudalen y pecyn 39 2



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

numbers of women returned to the Senedd has, in part, been due to the success of a
party who has consistently utilised measures to increase the number of female
candidates standing for its party, Welsh Labour. At present, this leaves the gender
balance in the Senedd dependent on the next election outcome and therefore
susceptible to backsliding in part due to the lack of widespread or systematically
implemented gender quotas.

Therefore, a guarantee is needed to ensure all parties are standing diverse
candidates and that the balance of men and women elected to the Senedd is as
close to 50:50 as possible.

The effect of the legislation

The Senedd Cymru (Electoral Candidate Lists) Bill is a relatively short piece of
legislation that largely introduces measures around the proportion and placement of
women on electoral lists. This essentially aims to act as a way to both horizontally
and vertically ‘zip’ a closed list, where parties will stand a list of candidates in each
constituency.

As our recently released Pursuing Parity report outlined, zipping is one method of
implementing quotas and is used in varying ways across the world?:
® zebra or zipper systems: alternating female and male candidates throughout
the lists (as used in Bolivia, Costa Rica, Ecuador, France, Kenya, Republic of
Korea, Lesotho, Libya, Nicaragua, Senegal, Tunisia and Zimbabwe);
alternation is used by many Green parties as well Social Democratic parties;
® arequirement that the top two candidates are not of the same sex (used in
Belgium);
40:60 ratio for every five posts on the list (Spain); and
one out of every group of three candidates must be a woman (Albania,
Argentina, Indonesia, Serbia, Timor-Leste).

The Senedd Cymru (Electoral Candidate Lists) Bill seeks to introduce a system most
similar to the zebra or zipper system. While it only relates to the placement of female
candidates, this will likely have the effect of alternating female candidates, with male
or non binary candidates, creating that zipping system.

To be the most effective it is widely recognised that vertical distribution should be
accompanied by guarantees of fair horizontal distribution, which we believe this Bill
seeks to achieve through section 7b.3

2 https://www.electoral-reform.org.uk/latest-news-and-research/publications/pursuing-parity-
examining-gender-quotas-across-electoral-systems/#sub-section-6
3 Ibid

Tudalen y pecyn 40 3


https://www.electoral-reform.org.uk/latest-news-and-research/publications/pursuing-parity-examining-gender-quotas-across-electoral-systems/#sub-section-6
https://www.electoral-reform.org.uk/latest-news-and-research/publications/pursuing-parity-examining-gender-quotas-across-electoral-systems/#sub-section-6

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

Modelling of the effects of gender quotas on the representation of women in
the Senedd

In May 2022 the former First Minister, Mark Drakeford, and the former Leader of
Plaid Cymru, Adam Price, announced their way forward for Senedd Reform, which
included a commitment to “closed proportional lists with integrated statutory gender
quotas and mandatory zipping™.

As a result of this over the past 18 months ERS Cymru has been exploring what
effect this might have on the representation of women at future Senedd elections
and produced some modelling of the effects quotas might have if implemented.

This modelling shows that quotas, while likely to have a positive impact on the
representation of women in the Senedd, still requires parties to play an active role in
considering where to place women at the top of electoral lists.

Clearly, modelling of any election comes with significant caveats. This work was
undertaken prior to the final report of the Boundary Commission for Wales on the
new Westminster constituencies and is obviously prior to the creation of the 16
constituencies for the 2026 Senedd election.

In addition it is always difficult to model future election results based on previous
elections as voting behaviour changes significantly from one election to the next. In
this case this is particularly difficult as if the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections)
Bill passes there will be a largely new voting system and new boundaries for the
2026 election. This modelling was also limited to two binary genders.

For this modelling two approaches were used, firstly simulated election results were
produced using a random number generator, secondly modelled election results
were produced using the 2021 Senedd election regional list votes as the basis for
modelling results under the new system.

Simulated election results

Simulated election results were generated through a random number generator
using the proposed electoral system under Senedd Reform to provide the input
parameters (Figure 3).

Figure 3: Inputs used to generate simulated election results.

4 https://www.gov.wales/a-way-forward-for-senedd-reform

Tudalen y pecyn 41 4


https://www.gov.wales/a-way-forward-for-senedd-reform

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

Element Value Simulated function

Numbers in a line 4,50r6 Number of parties winning seats per
constituency

Sum total of numbers in a 6 Total number of seats in the

line constituency

Range of numbers 0-6 Number of seats a party won in a given
constituency

Number of lines 16 Number of constituencies

Twenty sets of simulated election results were produced for 4 parties, 5 parties and 6
parties winning seats in the Senedd respectively. Different approaches to legislative
gender quotas were then applied to these election results to determine how they
affected the gender balance of the election results.

Figure 4:Example of one set of simulated election results for 4 parties, 5 parties and
6 parties winning seats respectively.

4 Party 5 Party 6 Party
Seats won Seats won Seats won
Party Party Party Party Party Party Party Party Party Party Party Party Party Party Party
Constituency A B c D Constituency A B [o3 D E Constituency A B Cc D E F
il & 0 2 1 1 0 2 0 1 3 1 2 4 0 0 0 0
2 1 0 0 5 2 0 5 0 1 0 2 0 1 0 3 0 2
3 0 3 1 2 3 2 0 1 3 0 3 1 0 0 0 5 0
4 3 1 2 0 4 0 1 3 0 2 4 3 0 2 0 1 0
5 1 3 2 0 5 0 2 4 0 0 5 0 0 2 0 3 1
6 4 0 1 1 6 1 2 2 1 0 6 2 1 1 1 1 0
7 1 3 2 0 7 0 1 0 (5 0 {7 S 1 (0] 0 0 0
8 0 B 2 1 8 0 1 3 2 0 8 1 0 0 2 8 0
9 3 0 1 2 9 4 2 0 0 0 9 2 0 1 0 3 0
10 2 4 0 0 10 1 3 1 0 1 10 1 0 0 3 2 0
1 0 0 4 2 1 2 0 2 1 1 1 0 1 0 5) 0 0
12 3 2 0 1 12 0 2 0 0 4 12 0 3 2 0 0 1
13 0 0 5 1 13 0 1 0 0 5 13 0 5 1 0 0 0
14 3 0 1 2 14 1 0 & 1 1 14 A1 0 1 2 1 1
15 0 2 1 3 15 0 2 1 3 0 15 1 1 1 1 2 0
16 0 4 1 1 16 2 1 3 0 0 16 3 0 2 0 0 1

A range of scenarios were tested from no horizontal zipping through to highly
specified system mandated horizontal zipping. The scenarios used were:

1. No horizontal zipping:

a. Men on top of all candidate lists across all constituencies

b. Women on top of all candidate lists across all constituencies

2. Party specified horizontal zipping:

a. Women on top of candidate lists in constituencies where they would win
proportionally less seats (0, then 2, 4, 6)

Tudalen y pecyn 42 5




RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

b. Combinations of different numbers of parties placing women on top of lists in
constituencies where they would win proportionally more seats, less seats
and pre-specified ordering

c. Women on top of candidate lists in constituencies where they would win
proportionally more seats (1 then 3, 5)

3. System mandated horizontal zipping:
a. Pre-specified, parties are told who to put on top of lists where with genders
alternating across constituencies in a strict way

The Senedd Cymru (Electoral Candidate Lists) Bill would be closest to the third
scenario if passed and implemented but would be less strict as parties will be able to
decide where half of their lists would be topped by women bringing an element of
party specified horizontal zipping.

Figure 5: Random election modelling results, based on four parties winning seats in
the Senedd

4 party random election results

Horizontal Zipping @ System specified @ Party specified None

Horizontal Zipping Type

Men top of all lists

Current
Senedd
Parity

Gender

Women top of all lists

—_——
Women top of list in less winnable constituencies 8—%—8—%

2 parties pre-specified, 2 parties women top in less winnable :

constituencies

2 parties women top in winnable seats, 2 parties women top in E
unwinnable seats ™

3 parties pre-specified, 1 party women top in less winnable E

constituencies -

3 parties women top in winnable seats, 1 party women top in

unwinnable seats § i ; § o
Women top of list in more winnable constituencies %&%8'8
Pre-specified 5—3-%&%5—.

=
%
RO
k2
?:S\
o
I
@
&

N

Proportion Women MSs (%)

Figure 5 shows a number of outcomes in terms of the proportion of women MSs
depending on the quota model used. The quota most likely to deliver parity
according to the modelling is the pre-specified model but where women are placed in
winnable seats also has a clear impact.

The main differences between the modelling where four, five or six parties won seats
in the Senedd was a greater spread in the results of the modelling across the
different hypothetical elections we ran.

Figure 6: Random election modelling results, based on six parties winning seats in
the Senedd

Tudalen y pecyn 43 6

N



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

6 party random election results

Horizontal Zipping @ System specified @ Party specified None

Horizontal Zipping Type

Men top of all lists e — —

Gender
Parity

Current
Senedd

Women top of all lists

Women top of listin less winnable constituencies @9—%@%—6—@

3 parties pre-specified, 3 parties women top in less winnable :

constituencies :

3 parties women top in winnable seats, 3 parties women top in o
unwinnable seats

4 parties pre-specified, 2 parties women top in less winnable
constituencies @‘8%'9‘%@ H
4 parties women top in winnable seats, 2 parties women top in
unwinnable seats %‘8'81%@—8
Women top of list in more winnable seats @-e—%
Pre-specified 0—0—'+==8—‘
? N g © S § & & & ] o

Proportion Women MSs (%)

Modelled election results

For the modelled election results the regional list votes from the 2021 Senedd
elections were collated at a constituency level. Using the reprojection data produced
by Electoral Calculus for the interim boundary review new constituencies (i.e. the
best data that was available in January 2023), the regional list votes were adjusted
by weighting their contribution to each of the new 32 Westminster constituencies
based on the proportion of each of the old 40 constituencies within a new
constituency. Once the new constituency votes were collated, the 32 constituencies
were then paired into 16 Senedd constituencies (Figure 7) and the votes summed
across these pairings. We want to be clear that these are hypothetical pairings and
thus not the constituencies that will be used at the 2026 elections, but were
necessary in order for us to model potential outcomes. They are also based on the
interim boundaries for the Westminster constituencies as this work was undertaken
prior to the final constituencies being published.

Figure 7: Westminster interim constituency pairings to produce 16 Senedd
constituencies.

Tudalen y pecyn 44 7


https://www.electoralcalculus.co.uk/

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

D ¢ [ construencyt | Constiwency2 _________|
3 ) e e e Bangor Aberconwy Ynys Mén
2 Dwyfor Meirionnydd Montgomeryshire and Glyndwr
3 Clwyd East Clwyd North
4 Alyn and Deeside Wrexham
5/ Ceredigion Preseli Pembrokeshire Mid and South
6 Carmarthen Llanelli
7 Monmouthshire Brecon, Radnor and Cwm-tawe
8 Gower and Swansea West Swansea Central and North
9 Aberafan Porthcaw! Neath and Swansea East
10  Bridgend Vale of Glamorgan
11 Merthyr Tydfil and Upper Cynon Rhondda
12 Caerphilly Pontypridd
13  Blaenau Gwent and Rhymney Torfaen
14  Newport East Newport West and Islwyn
15  Cardiff East Cardiff South and Penarth
16  Cardiff North Cardiff West

Seats were then allocated in each constituency using the D’Hondt method, with six
seats per constituency. These seat allocations to each party per constituency were
then used as an input dataset to apply the different approaches to legislative gender
quotas to.

Figure 8: Modelled election results under a closed lists electoral system based on
the contents of the 2022 announcement by the former First Minister and the former
Leader of Plaid Cymru.

Party Number of seats % Seats % Votes (total across
all constituencies)

Welsh Labour 48% 36%
Welsh Conservatives 28 29% 25%
Plaid Cymru 21 22% 21%
Welsh Liberal 1 1% 1%
Democrats

This data is purely based on the regional votes of the 2021 Senedd election and it
should be noted that voter behaviour is likely to be different under a fully closed list
system and under different boundaries.

A range of scenarios were then tested from no horizontal zipping through to highly
specified system mandated horizontal zipping. The scenarios used were:

1. No horizontal zipping:
a. Men on top of all candidate lists across all constituencies

Tudalen y pecyn 45 8



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

b. Party specific % of women on top of lists based on candidate order for
regional list in 2021 Senedd elections — placed in both more winnable and
less winnable areas

c. Women on top of all candidate lists across all constituencies

2. Party specified horizontal zipping:

a. Women on top of candidate lists in constituencies where they will win
proportionally less seats (0, then 2, 4, 6)

b. Party specific % of women on top of candidate lists in more winnable
constituencies based on regional list results from 2021 Senedd elections

c. Women on top of candidate lists in constituencies where they will win
proportionally more seats (1 then 3, 5)

3. System mandated horizontal zipping:
a. Pre-specified, parties are told who to put on top of lists with genders
alternating across constituencies in a strict way.

Figure 9: Outcome of modelled election results with a variety of zipping measures
applied

Horizontal Zipping @ System Specified @ Party Specified @ None

Horizontal Zipping Type

Men top of all lists

Parity

N
%
k2
76\
O OO OO OO ASRUO SO SO o o0
Rt
£
s

Current
Senedd
Gender

% Women on top of lists: Lab - 100%, LD - 60%, Plaid
- 40%, Cons - 20% (Regional List Candidates 2021)

Women top of all lists

Women top of lists in less winnable constituencies

Women top of lists in more winnable seats: Lab -
100%, LD - 100%, Plaid - 37.5%, Cons - 25%
(Regional List Candidates and Results 2021)

Women top of lists in more winnable constituencies

Pre-specified ] °

Proportion Women MSs (%)

Figure 9 shows that under the modelled election results there is still a range of
outcomes depending on which method of quota is used. Again the option that
delivers the most reliable range around parity is the pre-specified model, but there
are a number of ways of doing that depending on where women are placed on the
top of lists.

Tudalen y pecyn 46 9

"\



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

Since we have undertaken this modelling, we have seen the publication of the
Senedd Cymru (Electoral Candidate Lists) Bill, which now means we have a clearer
picture of which of these zipping methods will be most similar to what would be used
if this legislation is passed and implemented. However, what this modelling highlights
is that there is a range of outcomes even under the strictest zipping method, which
this legislation falls short of.

Therefore, the number of women elected even under legislative quotas will vary
depending on and how many seats each party wins in a constituency. For example,
if a party standing a man on the top of a list in one constituency wins three seats
they will have two male and one female candidate successfully elected and vice
versa. All of this will have an impact on the whole makeup of the Senedd but is
entirely reliant on votes actually cast and not something that can or should be
controlled.

But what parties can control that will have an impact is where parties stand women
at the top of their lists. Parties should factor this in, as much as possible, when
deciding which lists should be topped by women.

In summary, this modelling demonstrates that quotas could go a long way in
providing a backstop to stop the number of women elected declining, but that parties
should not rest on quotas if they are passed and implemented. Parties will still have
a huge role in ensuring the diversity of the next Senedd and should not take this
lightly.

Competency

We are aware that the competency of this Bill is the subject of discussion for the
Reform Bill Committee. We believe it is for the Senedd to do its job and scrutinise
this legislation and that includes questions around its competency. But we believe
that this Bill goes hand in hand with other reforms currently progressing through the
Senedd.

In 2022 ERS Cymru and WEN Wales instructed Christian J Howells of 30 Park Place
Chambers to provide some legal advice on the competency of legislative quotas for
Senedd elections. That legal advice is attached.

Other measures needed
Measures to promote diversity beyond gender

We have spoken about representation of members in terms of gender in our
response. This is due to the contents of the Bill. However, we strongly believe
diversity in its wider sense should be addressed, particularly around greater
representation of black, Asian and ethnic minority candidates, disabled candidates,

Tudalen y pecyn 47 10



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

LGBTQ+ candidates and candidates with a wider range of lived experiences,
including age and societal barriers.

This was something recognised by the Committee on Senedd Reform, who
recommended in their final report that:

“The relevant Sixth Senedd committee should undertake further work on diversity
quotas in respect of characteristics other than gender to inform decisions on whether
such quotas would be appropriate mechanisms to encourage the election of a more
diverse Senedd. This work should be informed by expert advice on the design and
operation of diversity quotas, and by working closely in partnership with
underrepresented groups, including BAME communities in Wales and people with
disabilities.”®

Furthermore, the Special Purpose Committee on Senedd reform stated:

“We recommend that a relevant committee considers how further work can best be
undertaken on examining the merits and implications of legislative diversity quotas
for characteristics other than gender. We anticipate that this consideration will inform
decisions on whether such quotas may, in time, provide effective mechanisms for
encouraging the election of a more diverse Senedd, at an appropriate time in the
future.”®

While we understand competency might be a consideration here there has been little
progress on exploring what measures can be put in place to increase the wider
diversity of the Senedd and regret that no substantive piece of work addressing this
is underway and that there are no measures around this within the Senedd Cymru
(Electoral Candidate Lists) Bill.

Data on the diversity of candidates and elected representatives

The lack of official data on the diversity of candidates and elected representatives is
a significant issue that has yet to be addressed. Existing data around the diversity of
candidates and Members of the Senedd is not based on official figures; beyond the
Senedd measures to collect data on the diversity of candidates for local elections
has demonstrated that voluntary collections of data are not sufficient. Without
accurate data it is very difficult to measure where progress is and is not being made
on improving diversity.

5 https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-Id13452/cr-Id13452%20-e.pdf
6 https://senedd.wales/media/5mtaloyk/cr-ld15130-e.pdf

Tudalen y pecyn 48 11


https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld13452/cr-ld13452%20-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/5mta1oyk/cr-ld15130-e.pdf

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

We have long called for the enactment of Section 106 of the Equality Act, which
would require political parties to publish diversity data on candidates standing in
elections to the House of Commons, Scottish Parliament and the Senedd.

In its absence there are measures that we believe could be taken at a devolved
level, yet there has been little progress on this to date.

Multiple Senedd Committees and the Expert Panel on Assembly Electoral Reform
have examined this issue and all recommended that data be collected in some way.

The Special Purpose Committee recommended:
“We recommend that a legislative requirement is placed upon a devolved Welsh
Authority to collect and prominently publish anonymised candidate diversity data.””

This is a relatively simple change, but one that would have a significant impact on
our ability to understand the effects of measures like legislative gender quotas.

7 Ibid

Tudalen y pecyn 49 12



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

ADVICE ON LEGISLATIVE DIVERSITY QUOTAS FOR SENEDD ELECTIONS

1. I am instructed to advise WEN Wales and ERS Cymru on whether the Senedd
can pass legislation in relation to quotas for gender and other protected
characteristics, within the meaning of the Equality Act 2010. They in turn have
been asked by the Senedd Special Purpose Committee on Electoral Reform to

identify any legislative options that may be available.

2. I am of the view that the introduction of mandatory selection arrangements, to
include gender quotas, would arguably be within legislative competence
because:

a. It is arguable that the purpose of such legislation would not relate to a
reserved matter (equality of opportunity) but would relate to Senedd
elections and so would not be caught by section 108A(2)(c) of the
Government of Wales Act 2006 (‘(GoWA’); and

b. It is arguable that such legislation would fall within the exception to
section N1 of Schedule 7A and so would not be caught by s108A(2)(c)
GoWA.

3. Alternatively, it would be open to the Senedd to pass legislation imposing a
duty on political parties to have due regard to the desirability of gender
balanced candidate lists - mandating consideration of utilising section 104 of

the Equality Act 2010.

Purpose of legislation would relate to Senedd elections not equality of opportunity

4. Legislative selection arrangements would probably be introduced by way of
amendment to section 7 and/or 9 GoWA, ‘candidates at general elections’ and
‘allocation of seats to electoral region members’. Those provisions are not protected

by virtue of §7(2)(a)(v) of schedule 7B.

Tudalen y pecyn 50



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

5. Senedd legislation will be outside competence where “it relates to reserved

matters” in schedule 7A; section 108A(2)(c) GoWA.

6. Section 108A(6) provides the test to be applied in determining whether

legislation relates to reserved matters. It provides:

“The question whether a provision of an Act of the Senedd relates to a reserved
matter is determined by reference to the purpose of the provision, having regard
(among other things) to its effect in all the circumstances.”

7. The Supreme Court has on two occasions clarified that the purpose of the
legislation is to be ascertained in the usual way. If the purpose relates to a
matter within devolved competence, then the fact that the legislation also
touches upon reserved matters does not render the legislation outwith
legislative competence:

a. Martin v Most [2010] UKSC 10, (2010) SC (UKSC) 40 was a case where an
increase in the summary sentencing powers of Scottish criminal courts
to 12 months impliedly amended the Road Traffic Offenders Act 1988
which stated that the maximum summary sentence for offences under
the Act was 6 months. The Act was a reserved matter. The Court held
by a majority at §§ 31 and 59 - 60 that as the purpose of the new
legislation was to re-allocate the caseload and reduce pressure on the
higher courts, it was “directed” as Scots law and did not relate to a
reserved matter. Most of what was enacted by the Westminster
Parliament (that it was an offence and the maximum penalty was 12
months) was left untouched;

b. Re Agriculture Sector (Wales) Bill [2014] UKSC 43, [2014] 1 WLR 2622 was
a case where the Welsh Assembly passed legislation setting minimum
terms and conditions of employment in the agricultural sector.
Agriculture was then a conferred power, but employment and industry
were not. The Court accepted at §58 that the bill “might in principle be

e

characterised as relating to “employment” and “industrial relations

Tudalen2y pecyn 51



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

Nevertheless, it held at §§ 65 - 68 that so long as the bill related to a
devolved matter (the scheme of devolution was then a conferred powers
model rather than a reserved powers model) it was within competence
- GoWA at that time did not require that the legislation should only be

categorised as relating a devolved subject.

8. The purpose of legislation can be ascertained by looking at the reports and
papers that brought it about. I have considered the documents: (i) A Parliament
that Works for Wales (November 2017) written by an expert panel on Assembly
Electoral Reform; and (ii) Senedd Reform: The next steps (September 2020) written
by the Senedd Committee on Senedd Electoral Reform. Recommendation 10
of document (i) was “in order to safeguard the achievements of the Assembly
and political parties in Wales in relation to gender-balanced representation,
we recommend that a gender quota is integrated within the electoral system put in place
for 2021.” At §12.19 it stated that it would be anomalous if the Senedd did not
have competence to determine its own electoral arrangements, including
gender quotas. At §12.22 it states “the intention of our proposals for gender
quotas is to ensure that the Assembly is as representative as possible of the people
of Wales”. Read as a whole, the proposals in document (i) were not formulated
to create equality of opportunity, but rather to ensure the Senedd was as

representative as possible of the people of Wales.

9. Depending on the reasons for the legislative proposal going forward, if it can
be said that the purpose of the legislation is to ensure the Senedd is
representative of the electorate, then it can be argued that the purpose of the
legislation relates to Senedd elections and although it may also touch upon
equality of opportunity, that is insufficient to render it outside competence.
The only reservations relating to Senedd elections are set out at §§ 21 - 27 of

section B1 of Schedule 7A and are not relevant here.

Tudalen y pecyn 52



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

10.

11.

12.

Quotas in respect of protected characteristics other than gender need to be
carefully thought through bearing in mind that the Senedd’s competence is
restricted by compatibility with the European Convention on Human Rights
(s108A(2)(e)) and drawing distinctions along other lines requires careful
justification for the purposes of the principle of non-discrimination contained

in article 14 of the Convention.

Section 104 of the Equality Act 2010 ("EA”) allows a political party to introduce
selection arrangements which are designed for the purpose of reducing
inequality in a party’s representation and are proportionate arrangements. The
introduction of mandatory gender quotas in candidate lists for each party in
Wales would not be inconsistent with section 104 EA but would make
additional provision - make such arrangements mandatory rather than
permissible. I do not consider that there would be any modification of section
104 EA by the proposed amendment of sections 7 and 9 GoWA (and so I
disagree with the suggestion to the contrary made at §278 of the report of the
Senedd Committee on Electoral Reform). The Senedd legislation would not
alter the rule laid down in section 104 EA or be in conflict with its unqualified
continuation in force as before, so that section 104 EA has to be understood as

having been in substance amended, superseded, disapplied or repealed; see Re

Withdrawal from the EU (Scotland) Bill [2018] UKSC 64, [2019] AC 1022 at §51.

In any event, even if there were such modification, the Equality Act 2010 is not
protected legislation in §5 of Schedule 7B and so can be modified by the
Senedd, subject to the operation of section 108A(2)(c) and schedule 7A. §2 of
Schedule 7B allows the modification of an enactment the subject matter of
which is a reserved matter if such modification is ancillary to legislation which
does not relate to a reserved matter. Thus, if the effect of an amendment to
sections 7 and 9 GoOWA was an implied amendment of section 104 EA, that

would be permissible.

Tudalerdy pecyn 53



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

13.  However, if such legislation is passed, there is a real risk that the Attorney
General would refer the legislation to the Supreme Court pursuant to section

112 GoWA. That process will take 8 - 12 months to resolve.

Even if purpose related to equality of opportunity, the proposed mandatory

selection arrangement would fall within an exception to the reservation

14.  Schedule 7A sets out the reserved matters but also sets out the exceptions to
those reserved matters. If the legislation falls within the exception, it is not

caught by s108A(2)(d).
15.  Section N1 of schedule 7A materially states:

“Section N1 Equal opportunities
187  Equal opportunities.
Exceptions

The encouragement (other than by prohibition or regulation) of equal
opportunities, and in particular of the observance of the equal opportunity
requirements.

The provision falling within this exception does not include any modification of
the Equality Act 2010, or of any subordinate legislation made under that Act,
but does include —

(a)  provision that supplements or is otherwise additional to
provision made by that Act;

(b)  in particular, provision imposing a requirement to take
action which that Act does not prohibit;

(c)  provision that reproduces or applies an enactment contained in
that Act, with or without modification, without affecting the
enactment as it applies for the purposes of that Act.” [emphasis
added]

16.  If reliance is being placed on the exception because it is accepted, or the
Supreme Court holds, that mandatory selection arrangements would relate to

a reserved matter, then any legislation could not modify the Equality Act 2010,

Tudalen y pecyn 54



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

17.

as the exception expressly says so and §1 of schedule 7B would bite. But the
Senedd can pass a provision which supplements or is otherwise additional
provision and which imposes a requirement to take action which the Equality

Act 2010 does not prohibit.

The first point is that, for the reasons given at §10, a legislative quota would not
modify the Equality Act 2010 - it would be additional provision and would fall
within the exception. Section 104 EA allows selection arrangements by political
parties and the Senedd legislation would only require action already permitted
by the Equality Act 2010. Such mandatory selection arrangements would be an
encouragement of equal opportunity. I have debated whether a mandatory
requirement would amount to regulation, which is not permitted by the
exception, but in light of the fact that it later says such provision does include
a requirement that is not prohibited, then I have come to the conclusion that it
is arguable that mandatory selection arrangements would fall within the

exception of encouragement.

The lesser option of a due regard duty

18.

If it was accepted, or the Supreme Court held, that a mandatory selection
requirement did not fall within the exception of encouragement (because it was
regulation) or because it did amount to a modification of the Equality Act 2010,
then there is the lesser option of introducing a duty on all political parties who
submit a list of candidates to have due regard to the desirability of gender
balanced lists. This would simply be encouraging parties to take advantage of
section 104 EA and it would be open to the parties to decline, so long as they

consider it.

Conclusion

Tudalensy pecyn 55



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

19.

Accordingly, I am of the view that it is within the legislative competence of the

Senedd to introduce legislation which requires political parties at Senedd

elections to submit candidate lists which are comprised of at least 50% female

candidates. Alternatively, it is within the legislative competence of the Senedd

to impose a duty on political parties to have due regard to the desirability of

implementing selection arrangements in accordance with section 104 of the
Equality Act 2010.

Christian ] Howells

30 Park Place, Cardiff

31 January 2022

Tudalen y pecyn 56



Electoral
Reform
Soclety

Cymru

Modelling the
potential outcomes
of legislative gender
quotas

= — F‘-:’!m&:'ﬁ—r— ‘i:.—:“—‘” :;,'-u“ 3: -;: Sk “".—:- === gf:““ "".m- ==
ey -+ f e B R B — e e T T —

— R e ————— — e - T




[] Electoral
[ ] Reform

Approach to modelling LGQs EEq

Cymru

Dual approach:

« Random election results constrained by the bounds of
Senedd Reform

8G ukoad A uajepny

« 16 constituencies

e O seats in each

 Modelled election results based on 2021 Senedd
regional list votes to allocate seats to parties in each

new constituency



[] Electoral
[ 1 Reform

Vertical Zipping [ Society

Cymru

Position Example Example Example

 Adjacent candidates going down a onllist 1 2 3
party list may not be of the same
c gender 1 F M F
< « Other names for vertical zipping 2 M F N
5! Include rank or placement mandate
o and zebra system 3 F M F
« Many countries use vertical zipping 4 M F M
In their LGQ including: Bolivia, Costa
Rica, Ecuador, France, Kenya, 5 F M =
Republic of Korea, Lesotho, Libya,
Mexico, Nicaragua, Senegal, Tunisia 6 M = M

and Zimbabwe
F — female, M — male, N — non-binary



[] Electoral
[ 1 Reform

Horizontal Zipping [ Society

Cymru

Example Example Example

« Horizontal zipping is more complex as Constituency 1 5 3
£ there are several ways to zip party lists
% horizontally, but in essence it refers to Area 1 F M F
< alternating genders at the top of the list so
& that the first seat isn’t always won by the Area 2 M M N
?8 same gender across the available
constituencies Area 3 = M E
* This could be pre-specified by an electoral Area 4 M = M
management board or similar and dictated
to the parties Area 5 = = =
 Or parties could decide which candidates Area 6 M = M

to put on top of the list where
F — female, M — male, N — non-binary



[] Electoral
[ 1 Reform

Horizontal Zipping [ Society

Cymru

Example Example Example

« This variability in approaches means Constituency 1 5 3
outcomes could be different under
g different forms of horizontal zipping Area 1 F M F
Q
D
<+ Countries that use horizontal (and vertical) Area 2 M M N
;;'3 Zipping in their _LQQS include Mexico,
»  CostaRica, Bolivia and Ecuador Area 3 = M =
« Some require that women must be Area 4 M = M
placed in ‘winnable’ seats based on the
parties’ results at the last election Area 5 = = =
 Latin Americais leading in this element of Area 6 M = M

guota design
F — female, M — male, N — non-binary



[] Electoral

Random election methods [] Reform

[ Society

Cymru

« 20 iterations, providing 20 sets of election results per number of parties winning seats
« Random number generator used to generate election results with following settings:

Sets of numbers per line specified between 4 — 6 representing the number of ‘parties’ winning seats in a
given set of elections

29 ukoad A usjepny

« Each individual number could vary between 0 — 6 (the minimum and maximum numbers of seats a ‘party’
could win in any given constituency) and all numbers in a given line had to sum to 6 (i.e. the number of seats
available in any constituency)

« 16 lines of numbers were produced in each iteration reflecting the 16 constituencies

« Different approaches to horizontal zipping (the alternating of genders at the top of the list across constituencies)
were then applied to these election results

 Under all scenarios there was always vertical zipping down party lists



[] Electoral
[ 1 Reform

[ Society

p)
=
S
N
O
L S
)
Q.
=
S
>
&
-
O
=
O
©
O
=
O
S
-
S
nd

Cymru

6 Party

S Party

4 Party

Seats won
Party Party Party Party Party Party

>
%)
c
(@)
>
o
g
%)
c
(@)
o
>
=
SWmooNo oo
[a
>
o
§0 4 mMO O AW
[« a
o
z >
N gOoOooOodmY N O
L2
%P
" =
S0 N WO NN
o
>
o
SO oNOOHO
o
y1234567
%)
c
(@)
>
=
gy
%)
c
(@)
@]
>
=
SO0 9L ANOOdHOo
[a
=| =
O gONO 4NN AN
= a
g >
O gMOOmMm-AmMOm
N
2
wA3103141
[a

Constituency

Tudalen y pecyn 63

F
0
2
0
0
1
0
0

E
0
0
5
1
3
1
0

D
0
3
0
0
0
1
0

C
0
0
0
2
2
1
0

B
4
1
0
0
0
1
1

A
2
0
1
3
0
2
5

10
11
12
13
14
15
16

10
11
12
13
14
15
16

10
11
12
13
14
15
16



[] Electoral
[ ] Reform

Random election LGQ approaches [ Society

Cymru

« Men on top of all candidate lists across all constituencies
«  Women on top of all candidate lists across all constituencies

Party specified horizontal zipping:
« Women on top of candidate lists in constituencies where they will win proportionally less seats (0, then 2, 4, 6)

« Combinations of different numbers of parties placing women on top of lists in constituencies where they will win
proportionally more seats, less seats and pre-specified ordering

« Women on top of candidate lists in constituencies where they will win proportionally more seats (1 then 3, 5)

79 ukoad A uajepny

System mandated horizontal zipping:

 Pre-specified, parties are told who to put on top of lists where with genders alternating across constituencies in a
strict way



[1 Electoral
Random election modelling results L] Reform

[ Society

Cymru

4 party random election results

Horizontal Zipping @ System specified @ Party specified @ None

—
S_ H
) Men top of all lists —— = = o o
o} v g T =
o S C oo
U< Women top of all lists 3 & G} ——
Qo
ﬁ"g Women top of listin less winnable constituencies '—ﬂ-‘—!
— = 2 parties pre-specified, 2 parties women top in less winnable
E_CD constituencies :
o1 :
22 parties women top in winnable seats, 2 parties women top in
N unwinnable seats .
_fg 3 parties pre-specified, 1 party women top in less winnable i
c constituencies :
o . L . :
N 3 parties women top in winnable seats, 1 party women top in :
— unwinnable seats :
@] :
L

Women top of list in more winnable constituencies !—‘—H—’
Pre-specified p—%:%'—.

W P 5P N N o & S & D N

Proportion Women MSs (%)



[1 Electoral
Random election modelling results L] Reform

[ Society

Cymru

5 party random election results

Horizontal Zipping @ System specified @ Party specified @ None
C

Men top of all lists —_—

Current
Senedd

Gender
Parity

Women top of all lists

Women top of list in less winnable constituencies 0—’—%—. :
2 parties pre-specified, 3 parties women top in less winnable
constituencies
2 parties women top in winnable seats, 3 parties women top in :
unwinnable seats :
3 parties pre-specified, 2 parties women top in less winnable g
constituencies :
3 parties women top in winnable seats, 2 parties women top in
unwinnable seats

Women on top of lists in more winnable constituencies 0—':;:%:!—’—‘

Pre-specified 0—0—0—’—%*’—‘—.

Koad A uajep

Qu

Horizontal Zipping Type

Proportion Women MSs (%)



[1 Electoral
Random election modelling results L] Reform

[ Society

Cymru

6 party random election results

Horizontal Zipping @ System specified @ Party specified @ None

—
S_ :
) Men top of all lists —_— = = o o
o} v g T =
o S C oo
U< Women top of all lists S ﬁ o
ok} :
ﬁ"g Women top of listin less winnable constituencies 0—0—!—'#'—0—0
— = 3 parties pre-specified, 3 parties women top in less winnable
a9 constituencies i
~ :
2 3 parties women top in winnable seats, 3 parties women top in
N unwinnable seats
ﬁ 4 parties pre-specified, 2 parties women top in less 'Efvinnat.)le
S constituencies :
N 4parties women top in winnable seats, 2 parties women top in
— unwinnable seats :
S :
I

Women top of list in more winnable seats H—'i‘!—!—.—.
Pre-specified H—%—‘

o oD 5P W N S & S & D N

Proportion Women MSs (%)



[] Electoral
[ ] Reform

Conclu_smns from random election LGQ (] Society
modelling s

Wide range of outcomes from different horizontal zipping methods

89 ukoad A uajepny
[ ]

Some methods produce results that are less balanced than the current Senedd

No approach guarantees exact parity across different election result iterations

Number of parties winning seats in a given election also affects outcomes



[] Electoral
[ ] Reform

Modelled election results post-Senedd Bl o ey
Reform - Methods Cymru

« Caveats: all results are estimates based on the data available but cannot be considered
accurate predictions of future election results

* Regional list votes from the 2021 Senedd elections were used as a base for the modelling
* Votes from the 40 current constituencies were projected onto the new 32 constituencies

weighted using the proportions of electorate within each new constituency from the
boundary commission reports

69 ukoad A uajepny

« The 32 constituencies were then paired into 16 new Senedd constituencies and votes
summed across these pairings

« Seats were allocated to each party using the D’Hondt method in each of these 16
constituencies



[ ] Electoral

[ ] Reform

Modelled new constituency boundaries (] Society

0/ ukoad A uajepny

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16

Bangor Aberconwy
Dwyfor Meirionnydd

Clwyd East

Alyn and Deeside

Ceredigion Preseli

Carmarthen

Monmouthshire

Gower and Swansea West
Aberafan Porthcawl

Bridgend

Merthyr Tydfil and Upper Cynon
Caerphilly

Blaenau Gwent and Rhymney
Newport East

Cardiff East

Cardiff North

Cymru

Constituency 1 Constituency 2

Ynys Mon
Montgomeryshire and Glyndwr
Clwyd North

Wrexham

Pembrokeshire Mid and South
Llanelli

Brecon, Radnor and Cwm-tawe
Swansea Central and North
Neath and Swansea East

Vale of Glamorgan

Rhondda

Pontypridd

Torfaen

Newport West and Islwyn
Cardiff South and Penarth
Cardiff West



[ ] Electoral
[ ] Reform

Modelled election results post-Senedd AlEE
Reform - Results Cymru

Party Number of seats % Seats % Votes (total across
all constituencies)

=

o

;:»D Welsh Labour 46 48% 36%

kS

<

~ Welsh Conservatives 28 29% 25%
Plaid Cymru 21 22% 21%
Welsh Liberal 1 1% 4%

Democrats



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 2 | Paper 2

LG PR CHTEN Senedd Reform model

2/ ukoad A usjepn

Party

@® Welsh Labour
® Plaid Cymru
Welsh Liberal Democrats

@® Welsh Conservatives

Senedd 2021 results B-ELELG G GGG

Senedd 2021 results

30
13
1

16

Senedd Reform model

46
21
1

28

Seat change

t16

t8
0

t12



[] Electoral
[ ] Reform

Modelled election LGQ approaches [ Society

Cymru

e/ ukoad A usjepny

« Men on top of all candidate lists across all constituencies

« Party specific % of women on top of lists based on candidate order for regional list in 2021 Senedd elections —
placed in both more winnable and less winnable areas

«  Women on top of all candidate lists across all constituencies

Party specified horizontal zipping:
« Women on top of candidate lists in constituencies where they will win proportionally less seats (0, then 2, 4, 6)

« Party specific % of women on top of candidate lists in more winnable constituencies based on regional list
results from 2021 Senedd elections

« Women on top of candidate lists in constituencies where they will win proportionally more seats (1 then 3, 5)

System mandated horizontal zipping:

« Pre-specified, parties are told who to put on top of lists where with genders alternating across constituencies in a
strict way



[] Electoral

| Ref
Modelled election LGQ outcomes ESgc?ert?

Cymru

Horizontal Zipping @ System Specified @ Party Specified @ None

—] = e ‘;-«E
S Men top of all lists s < £
L S S o &
@ : . O v O
>9% Women on top of lists: Lab - 100%, LD - 60%, Plaid
mé -40%, Cons - 20% (Regional List Candidates 2021)
2o
=g
oD Women top of all lists
R=EN
ab
Q
N Women top of lists in less winnable constituencies ®
S Women top of lists in more winnable seats: Lab -
S 100%, LD - 100%, Plaid - 37.5%, Cons - 25% °
o (Regional List Candidates and Results 2021)
(@] :
T Women top of lists in more winnable constituencies ®
Pre-specified [ ®
X ot w® S S L S & 8

Proportion Women MSs (%)



[] Electoral
[ ] Reform

Conclusions from modelled election LGQ (] Society
outcomes s

G/ ukoad A usjepny

Range of outcomes based on zipping method

Vertical zipping only could produce proportions of women MSs as low as 35.4% if men are
placed at the top of candidate lists by all parties across all constituencies

Mandating horizontal, as well as vertical zipping improves outcomes could still be as low
38.5% women MSs if women are placed on top of lists in less winnable areas

Strict pre-specified horizontal zipping produces outcomes from 46 — 54% but may not be
possible under current competencies

Even if vertical and horizontal zipping are mandatory then parties may still play a huge role
In determining the outcomes through where individuals are placed on top of the list



Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) ix o Reol Sefydlog 17.42

Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 76



Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) ix o Reol Sefydlog 17.42

Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 89



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 4 | Paper 4

Eitem 4

SCECLB7 - P Rhwydwaith Hawliau Merched

Senedd Cymru | Welsh Parliament

Ymateb gan Women's Rights Network | Evidence from Women's Rights Network (Saesneg yn unig)

Tudalen y pecyn 94


https://senedd.cymru/pwyllgorau/y-pwyllgor-biliau-diwygio/
https://senedd.wales/committees/reform-bill-committee/
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=549
https://business.senedd.wales/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=549
https://business.senedd.wales/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=549

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3 WOMEN 's
RIGHTS
NETWORK

PROTECTING THE RIGHTS OF WOMEN & CHILDREN

9 April 2024

Reform Bill Committee
The Senedd

Cardiff

CF99 1SN

To whom it may concern,

Thank you for the invitation to give oral evidence on 24™" April 2024 in an evidence session
before the Reform Bill Committee, responsible for Stage 1 of the Senedd (Electoral
Candidates Lists) Bill. As previously indicated, we will attend and provide this evidence

directly to you on that date.

Our written submission in respect of that Bill is duly attached in advance of the closing date
for consultation responses on 12t April 2024.

We look forward to the opportunity to address you further.

Yours sincerely,

Heather Binning
Founder, Women'’s Rights Network

@WomensRightsNet J&Mﬁ’sl?g’ﬂté’n%@één 9c|§min@womensrights.network


http://www.womensrights.network/
mailto:admin@womensrights.network

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

General principles

1. What are your views on the general principles of the Bill and the need for legislation
to deliver the Welsh Government’s stated policy objective (to make the Senedd a
more effective legislature by ensuring it is broadly representative of the gender
make-up of the population)?

(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

1.

Our position is that this Bill to ensure equal representation of women is not
required. However, if a Bill is brought, it must deliver improved representation of
women. For the purpose of this response, we use the definition of woman supplied
by the Equality Act 2010': a female of any age. The UN Special Rapporteur on
Violence against Women and Girls, Reem Alsalem? uses the same definition: women
are biological females.

The Bill talks about “gender” which is not defined while the census information
quoted by the Explanatory Memorandum talks of sex. There must be consistent use
of terms and definitions for purposes of clarity and to avoid confusion. The definition
of “gender” is disputed?® and therefore sex as defined by the Equality Act 2010*
should be used throughout.

If the Welsh Government finds itself unable to agree with the ordinary usage
definitions stated above, then the Bill must clarify what is meant by the words
“woman” and “gender”.

An agreed definition of terms is required to ensure the objectives of the Bill are clear
(“to make the Senedd a more effective legislature by ensuring it is broadly
representative of the gender make-up of the population”) and so that success can be
measured and demonstrated.

From the Explanatory Memorandum:

The Expert Panel referred to evidence indicating that over half of the world’s nations
use some form of electoral quota and that their use is increasing internationally.

But Senedd reform: the next steps® acknowledges that “seven out of the ten best
performing countries for female representation do not use quotas, Dr Fiona Buckley
and Dr Meryl Kenny identified that of these, many had a well-established system of
voluntary party quotas”.

! https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/2122view=plain

2 https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/documents/issues/women/sr/statements/20240404-

Statement-sr-vawg-cedaw-convention.pdf

3 https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/documents/issues/women/sr/statements/20240404-

Statement-sr-vawg-cedaw-convention.pdf

4 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/11

5 https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld13452/cr-ld 13452%20-e.pdf

Tudalen y pecyn 96


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/212?view=plain
https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/documents/issues/women/sr/statements/20240404-Statement-sr-vawg-cedaw-convention.pdf
https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/documents/issues/women/sr/statements/20240404-Statement-sr-vawg-cedaw-convention.pdf
https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/documents/issues/women/sr/statements/20240404-Statement-sr-vawg-cedaw-convention.pdf
https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/documents/issues/women/sr/statements/20240404-Statement-sr-vawg-cedaw-convention.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/11
https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld13452/cr-ld13452%20-e.pdf

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

6.

7.

10.

11.

In the National Assembly for Wales consultation report® we note that;

a. Atotal of 1340 responses were considered.

b. Overall, 39% of respondents do not support a change to the electoral system
(400 do not support, 120 do not know).

c. Overall, only 16% (210) of respondents support formal measures such as
gender quotas.

d. Other measures such as shortlists and financial incentives have been
disregarded without explanation. The UK Labour party has used shortlists to
great effect’.

Although there are more men than women currently elected, that has not always
been the case. In 2003 the Senedd was 50% women, proving that it is possible to
achieve a sex balance without quotas. The choice to implement mandatory quotas is
not evidenced.

The mechanism chosen to achieve “parity” is:
e complicated and likely to be poorly understood by the electorate;
® breaks the democratic link between electorate and individual candidates;
e might reduce turnout if lists include members that the electorate feel unable
to vote for.

The rules around eligible lists could return a Senedd entirely composed of women.
This would not be “broadly representative of the gender make-up of the population”
and by the Welsh Government’s argument, this would make the Senedd less
effective.

The rules around eligible lists could return a Senedd entirely composed of male
people as long as 50% of them state they are women. (It could be 100% who state
they are women). This is unlikely, but good laws don't rely on undesired outcomes
being unlikely. Spanish soldiers and policemen have stated that they are women to
gain employment benefits intended for women®. When the Scottish government
voted through the GRRB they didn’t for a moment think that they would be
defending a rapist calling himself Isla Bryson being placed in a women's prison.

From the Explanatory Memorandum:

29. Theory of change research published by the Welsh Government specifically
identifies male incumbency as a barrier faced by women in the context of access to

6

https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s79146/Full%2520consultation%2520report%2520PDF%25

201.1MB.pdf&sa=D&source=docs&ust=1712219621924071&usg=A0vVaw0xsNK3zcMrS-PH622WIfOv

questions 4 &5

7 https://www.democraticaudit.com/2016/02/19/gender-quotas-do-not-pose-a-threat-to-merit-at-any-

stage-of-the-political-process/

8 https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2024/03/05/spanish-soldiers-change-gender-benefits-for-

women/#:~:text=Spain's%20Left%2Dwing%20government%20introduced,o0f%20Ceuta%20in%20North

%20Africa.

Tudalen y pecyn 97


https://www.google.com/url?q=https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s79146/Full%2520consultation%2520report%2520PDF%25201.1MB.pdf&sa=D&source=docs&ust=1712219621924071&usg=AOvVaw0xsNK3zcMrS-PH622WIfOv
https://www.google.com/url?q=https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s79146/Full%2520consultation%2520report%2520PDF%25201.1MB.pdf&sa=D&source=docs&ust=1712219621924071&usg=AOvVaw0xsNK3zcMrS-PH622WIfOv
https://www.democraticaudit.com/2016/02/19/gender-quotas-do-not-pose-a-threat-to-merit-at-any-stage-of-the-political-process/
https://www.democraticaudit.com/2016/02/19/gender-quotas-do-not-pose-a-threat-to-merit-at-any-stage-of-the-political-process/
https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2024/03/05/spanish-soldiers-change-gender-benefits-for-women/#:~:text=Spain's%20Left%2Dwing%20government%20introduced,of%20Ceuta%20in%20North%20Africa
https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2024/03/05/spanish-soldiers-change-gender-benefits-for-women/#:~:text=Spain's%20Left%2Dwing%20government%20introduced,of%20Ceuta%20in%20North%20Africa
https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2024/03/05/spanish-soldiers-change-gender-benefits-for-women/#:~:text=Spain's%20Left%2Dwing%20government%20introduced,of%20Ceuta%20in%20North%20Africa

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

elected office. The research report notes that the costs of campaigning can be
significant for women as they ‘are more likely to have caring responsibilities, work
part-time, and take career breaks to raise children’ compared with men. The report
also identified that ‘fear of violence, abuse and harassment from the public ... [is] a
significant barrier for women’ standing for election in local elections.

The proposed Bill does nothing to address these acknowledged barriers that prevent
or discourage talented women from standing as candidates. Maternity, caring
responsibilities and financial constraints are likely to be the real challenges. This Bill
will simply make selection easier for women who do not face such barriers or have
already overcome them.

Tudalen y pecyn 98



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

Enforcement and compliance

As part of the nominations process, candidates would be required to make a statement
about whether they are a woman or not a woman. This statement will be used as the
basis for enforcing the rules. Constituency Returning Officers (CROs) will take these
statements at face value’, meaning that they would not undertake any investigation
into whether the information provided by a candidate is correct. CROs would be
responsible for verifying that a minimum of 50% of candidates on each list have made
a statement that they are women, and that the vertical rule is met. If a list does not
comply, the CRO wiill be able to invalidate the nomination papers.

For the national quotas, the Bill gives the Welsh Government the power to appoint a
National Nominations Compliance Officer (NNCO). This role would oversee
compliance with the horizonal rule. If a political party’s lists do not comply with the
rule, they will be given the opportunity to re-order one or more list to make them
compliant. If they do no no t, then one or more lists would be chosen by the NNCO
and re-ordered by the relevant CRO.

2. What are your views on the system of enforcement and potential sanctions for non-
compliance proposed in the Bill?
(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

12. Assertions that women are 51% of the population is based on their sex according to
the 2021 census. There is a legal requirement to be truthful when completing the
census, with a penalty for deliberate falsehoods.

13. For this Bill, sanctions only apply for failing to follow the rules about zipping,
ordering, and horizontal and vertical list compliance. There is no sanction for falsely
stating that a person is a woman to prioritise their name on a list.

14. There is no mention of what would constitute a false statement — no mention of a
person’s sex, a GRC, or even having an “intention to live as a woman”. In this Bill,
making a statement with no evidential requirement is deemed sufficient. Self-
declaration such as this is not UK law. °

15. From the Explanatory Memorandum:

236. Existing electoral law provides for a number of electoral offences relating to the
fair running of elections targeted at electoral administrators and participants. One
such offence is breach of official duty by Returning Officers and other electoral
officials and this may be amended to cover the NNCO. For participants, there are
various offences which are corrupt or illegal practices, one of which involves
providing false statements in nomination and other papers. Making a false gender
statement will not be part of that corrupt practice offence.

9

https://www.google.com/url?g=https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/13794&sa=D&source=docs&u
st=1712162482654029&usg=A0vVaw0ZuTiRL3fsloa-Yp_1nQwR Paras 100 - 104 & 126

Tudalen y pecyn 99


https://www.google.com/url?q=https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/13794&sa=D&source=docs&ust=1712162482654029&usg=AOvVaw0ZuTiRL3fsIoa-Yp_1nQwR
https://www.google.com/url?q=https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/13794&sa=D&source=docs&ust=1712162482654029&usg=AOvVaw0ZuTiRL3fsIoa-Yp_1nQwR

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

This explicitly recognises that a false gender statement is possible. As a key criterion
for candidate selection, there is no justification for excluding falsification from
sanction.

16. There are obvious benefits for a man to claim he is a woman even if he does not
believe it and has every intention to desist as soon as elected. In Mexico, 15 men
identified as transgender in order to occupy candidacies designated for women?©.

17. Men might reasonably feel that they are being discriminated against by these rules
that cap the number of men at 50% but do not cap the number of women,
incentivising them to falsify their gender statement.

18. The current Senedd sex balance is 43% women to 57% men, and in 2003 the sex
balance was 50:50, so abuse of the “gender statement” could make the sex balance
worse.

19. If a person stated they were a woman when registering as a candidate for election,
but stated they were a man after the election, would that person be required to
stand down? The proponents of this Bill have not made that clear.'!

20. Our view is that enforcement is weak or non-existent on this point and will
encourage men who would game the criterion.

10 hitps://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/jun/22/mexico-elections-fake-transgender-candidates-
disqualified
" https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/13793 Paras 143-146

Tudalen y pecyn 100


https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/jun/22/mexico-elections-fake-transgender-candidates-disqualified
https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/jun/22/mexico-elections-fake-transgender-candidates-disqualified
https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/13793

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

The Bill’s implementation

The Regulatory Impact Assessment is set out in Part 2 of the Explanatory Memorandum
(https://senedd.wales/media/xp4dgjto/pri-Id16394-em-e.pdf). This includes the
Welsh Government’s assessments of the financial and other impacts of the Bill and its
implementation.

3. Are there any potential barriers to the implementation of the Bill’s provisions? If so,
what are they, and are they adequately taken into account in the Bill and the
accompanying Explanatory Memorandum and Regulatory Impact Assessment?

(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

21. The direction of travel for this Bill is towards the Supreme court. There is dispute
around the legislative competence of the Welsh Government to implement this Bill.
The Llywydd has stated her opinion!? based on legal advice that the necessary
legislative competence is lacking. The scrutiny committee headed by David Rees
makes the same point?*3,

22. The definition of a person as a woman or not-a-woman based on a “gender
statement” does not align to the definition of a woman in the Equality Act 2010, nor
with the Gender Recognition Act 2004. The For Women Scotland ruling published 1
Feb 2024 confirms that this is a reserved matter.

23. To carry out positive action on behalf of any protected characteristic, it must be
shown to be a proportionate means to a legitimate aim®°. No such case has been
made. Action to remove the challenges faced by women or implementation of
voluntary shortlists, for example, would be more proportionate.

24. It has not been demonstrated that women are being treated unfairly. Nor that
having more than 50% women elected is proportionate or would achieve the desired
outcome (of a more accountable and effective Senedd).

25. Government of Wales Act Equal Opportunities provision'® (Excerpt below):
e Does not permit regulation for equal opportunities.
e Requires Equal Opportunity provisions to comply with the Equality Act 2010.
® Requires provision to be based on the EA2010 PCs (gender is not a PC).

12 https://www.google.com/url?q=https://senedd.wales/media/jmeascd1/pri-ld16394-pos-
e.pdf&sa=D&source=docs&ust=1712502893905665&usg=A0vVaw1wOJytYKaM6qqYBGxjHkGB

'3 https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s146028/Paper%203%20-
%20Letter%20from%20the%20Llywydd%20regarding%20the%20Senedd%20Cymru%20Electoral%20C
andidate%20Lists%20Bill%20-%2011%20M.pdf

" https://digitalpublications.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefings/Report/2024/2/1/a7eae3c4-71eb-4d56-
beébf-
836715c99f68#:~:text=The%20Court%200f%20Session%20decided,position%20since%2019%20April%
202022.

'S https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/schedule/3/part/7 para 26

'8 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/32/schedule/7A Para 187

Tudalen y pecyn 101


https://senedd.wales/media/xp4dqjto/pri-ld16394-em-e.pdf
https://www.google.com/url?q=https://senedd.wales/media/jmeascd1/pri-ld16394-pos-e.pdf&sa=D&source=docs&ust=1712502893905665&usg=AOvVaw1wOJytYKaM6qqYBGxjHkGB
https://www.google.com/url?q=https://senedd.wales/media/jmeascd1/pri-ld16394-pos-e.pdf&sa=D&source=docs&ust=1712502893905665&usg=AOvVaw1wOJytYKaM6qqYBGxjHkGB
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s146028/Paper%203%20-%20Letter%20from%20the%20Llywydd%20regarding%20the%20Senedd%20Cymru%20Electoral%20Candidate%20Lists%20Bill%20-%2011%20M.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s146028/Paper%203%20-%20Letter%20from%20the%20Llywydd%20regarding%20the%20Senedd%20Cymru%20Electoral%20Candidate%20Lists%20Bill%20-%2011%20M.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s146028/Paper%203%20-%20Letter%20from%20the%20Llywydd%20regarding%20the%20Senedd%20Cymru%20Electoral%20Candidate%20Lists%20Bill%20-%2011%20M.pdf
https://digitalpublications.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefings/Report/2024/2/1/a7eae3c4-71eb-4d56-b6bf-836715c99f68#:~:text=The%20Court%20of%20Session%20decided,position%20since%2019%20April%202022
https://digitalpublications.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefings/Report/2024/2/1/a7eae3c4-71eb-4d56-b6bf-836715c99f68#:~:text=The%20Court%20of%20Session%20decided,position%20since%2019%20April%202022
https://digitalpublications.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefings/Report/2024/2/1/a7eae3c4-71eb-4d56-b6bf-836715c99f68#:~:text=The%20Court%20of%20Session%20decided,position%20since%2019%20April%202022
https://digitalpublications.parliament.scot/ResearchBriefings/Report/2024/2/1/a7eae3c4-71eb-4d56-b6bf-836715c99f68#:~:text=The%20Court%20of%20Session%20decided,position%20since%2019%20April%202022
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/schedule/3/part/7
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/32/schedule/7A

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

Exceptions

The encouragement (other than by prohibition or regulation) of equal opportunities, and in particular
of the observance of the equal opportunity requirements.

Equal opportunities in relation to the functions of any devolved Welsh authority, other than a function
that relates to the inclusion of persons in non-executive posts on boards of devolved Welsh
authorities. The provision falling within this exception does not include any modification of the
Equality Act 2010, or of any subordinate legislation made under that Act, but does include—

(a)
provision that supplements or is otherwise additional to provision made by that Act;

(b)
in particular, provision imposing a requirement to take action which that Act does not prohibit;

(c)

provision that reproduces or applies an enactment contained in that Act, with or without modification,
without affecting the enactment as it applies for the purposes of that Act.

Interpretation

“'Equal opportunities”™ means the prevention, elimination or regulation of discrimination between
persons on grounds of 88X or marital status, on racial grounds, or on grounds of disability, age,
sexual orientation or social origin, or of other personal attributes, including beliefs or opinions, such
as religious beliefs or political opinions, but not including language.

“'Protected characteristic”” has the same meaning as in the Equality Act 2010.

The references to the Equality Act 2010 and any subordinate legislation made under that Act are to
be read as references to those enactments, as at the principal appointed day, but treating any
provision of them that is not yet in force on that day as if it were in force.

Tudalen y pecyn 102



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

4. Are any unintended consequences likely to arise from the Bill?
(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

Women who do not believe in Gender Identity Ideology may be unwilling to make a
“gender statement”. Women who believe in the reality of biological sex consider
women to be adult human females, which is a protected belief!’. A “gender
statement” is incompatible with sex-realist beliefs, and women holding sex-realist
beliefs may self-exclude.

There is a clear risk of fewer women (females) in the Senedd if women are displaced
by men with a gender statement claiming to be a woman.

From the Explanatory Memorandum:

30. A further concern in the context of Senedd elections is that men generally
make up a greater proportion of the pipeline of new politicians compared with
women, as was Vvisible at the 2021 Senedd election at which 69% of the 470
candidates who stood for election were men.

69% of the candidates were men, but 57% of those elected were men. That suggests
the electorate are happy to elect women when they are the best candidates. If
worse candidates are selected on the basis of sex, this would undermine the respect
that competent women have accrued.

Most women (like most men) want to be elected on merit, not because they tick a
box. The use of quotas is likely to drive the belief that successful candidates are not
good enough to be elected otherwise, reducing respect for MSs.

From the Explanatory Memorandum:

31. As men typically outnumber women as candidates at Senedd elections, there
is a risk that without the introduction of quotas the planned significant expansion
of the Senedd, increasing the number of MSs from 60 to 96, will lead to a greater
gender imbalance than at present.

This suggestion is unevidenced and, presumably, there is the potential that more
women will be elected.

The asymmetry of the proposed quotas which is designed specifically to favour
people willing to provide a gender statement that says they are women is likely to
cause discontent among men who find themselves excluded.

7 hitps://www.gov.uk/employment-appeal-tribunal-decisions/maya-forstater-v-cgd-europe-and-others-

ukeat-slash-0105-slash-20-slash-joj

Tudalen y pecyn 103


https://www.gov.uk/employment-appeal-tribunal-decisions/maya-forstater-v-cgd-europe-and-others-ukeat-slash-0105-slash-20-slash-joj
https://www.gov.uk/employment-appeal-tribunal-decisions/maya-forstater-v-cgd-europe-and-others-ukeat-slash-0105-slash-20-slash-joj

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

32. The evidence for specific intended outcomes resulting from quotas is weak, and
predominantly rests on two academic papers, (Clayton, 20218 and Cowper-Coles
2021%9).

Clayton herself says “the positive consequences of quotas are not guaranteed.
Entering into men-dominated parliaments, quota-elected women often face
gendered constraints in their legislative work, particularly when they attempt to
reform policies that uphold traditional male authority. As such, researchers would do
best to avoid any variant of the old “add women and stir” expectation that might
predict universally salutary effects following women's rising numbers”.

33. As referenced at paragraph 10 there is every likelihood of the Welsh Government
suffering significant embarrassment from the adoption of this Bill. In not requiring
evidence to support the truth (or otherwise) of a candidate’s statement, and then
promoting said candidates on the basis of that statement alone, there is scope for
the failures of the Bill to become known, if that statement is subsequently proven to
be false.

'8 https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev-polisci-041719-102019
19 https://www.kcl.ac.uk/giwl/assets/women-political-leaders.pdf

Tudalen y pecyn 104


https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev-polisci-041719-102019
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/giwl/assets/women-political-leaders.pdf

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

5. What are your views on the Welsh Government’s assessment of the financial and
other impacts of the Bill?
(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

34.

35.

36.

37.

From the Explanatory Memorandum:

150. Increasing the gender diversity of the Senedd is expected to lead to more
effective representation. This, in turn, may reasonably be anticipated to maximise the
value for money delivered through public expenditure, and thereby lead to financial
savings.

The link between financial savings and more effective representation has not been
made. Spending money better (for instance on more valuable projects) is not the
same as spending less money. Better representation might lead to additional funding
requirements being identified.

No costs are identified for:
e debating and drafting amendments
e communicating the change to the public — e.g. via leaflets and TV advertising
e effort to enact the Bill, update statute etc
e subordinate legislation

No provision has been made for any legal challenge. If the legal challenge comes
from Westminster, then the Westminster government might seek to recover their
costs too (should they win) as is happening in relation to the Scottish GRRBZ.

The expectation that “Greater gender balance will potentially result in a Senedd that
features a broader range of perspectives and a greater range of expertise” has no
place in the section on costs. It is entirely unevidenced and unquantifiable.

20 hitps://www.holyrood.com/news/view,scottish-ministers-wont-contest-calls-to-pay-uk-government-

grr-legal-costs-21374

Tudalen y pecyn 105


https://www.holyrood.com/news/view,scottish-ministers-wont-contest-calls-to-pay-uk-government-grr-legal-costs-21374
https://www.holyrood.com/news/view,scottish-ministers-wont-contest-calls-to-pay-uk-government-grr-legal-costs-21374

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

Subordinate legislation

The powers to make subordinate legislation are set out in Part 1: Chapter 5 of the
Explanatory Memorandum (https://senedd.wales/media/xp4dqgjto/pri-1d16394-em-
e.pdf).

The Welsh Covernment has also set out its statement of policy intent for subordinate
legislation
(https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s146049/Statement%200f%20Policy%20I
ntent%20PDF,%20313KB.pdf).

6. What are your views on the balance between the information contained on the face
of the Bill and what is left to subordinate legislation? Are the powers for Welsh
Ministers to make subordinate legislation appropriate?

(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

38. The Explanatory Memorandum is vague around the management of gender
statements, leaving questions of scrutiny, challenge and enforcement to subordinate
legislation. This Bill implements gender quotas, and as such, management of gender
statements is key to its success, and should not be left to subordinate legislation.

39. From the Explanatory Memorandum

114. The powers in the legislation also include powers for the Welsh Ministers to
make specific provision in an Order under section 13 in respect of the right to inspect
candidates’ gender statements. Currently, restricted groups of people (including
other candidates standing in the same constituency and their agents) are permitted
to inspect nomination papers during the pre-electoral period.

115. The Bill provides the powers for these operational matters to be addressed
through subordinate legislation

224 ... the Bill, together with the subordinate legislation to be made under it, will
require the processing of personal information about candidates, which may be
sensitive for some people.

226.The information about gender will be received by the CRO and their staff in the
same way as personal and potentially sensitive information is currently received and
processed. UK GDPR law will apply in these circumstances and it is anticipated that
policies and guidance similar to those currently relating to how candidate
information is to be protected and handled will be made relevant.

227. The Bill gives power to make provision in subordinate legislation about the
inspection of candidate gender statements.

40. It is not clear who will be able to inspect candidates’ gender statements. Without
visibility by other candidates, not only would there be no sanction for falsifying a
gender statement, but there would be no grounds for challenging a gender
statement either. This needs to be clarified in the Bill, not in subordinate legislation.

Tudalen y pecyn 106


https://senedd.wales/media/xp4dqjto/pri-ld16394-em-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/xp4dqjto/pri-ld16394-em-e.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s146049/Statement%20of%20Policy%20Intent%20PDF,%20313KB.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s146049/Statement%20of%20Policy%20Intent%20PDF,%20313KB.pdf

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

41. Sex is not sensitive information and will nearly always be obvious?. The Bill should
not, therefore, treat gender statements as sensitive information which will prevent
scrutiny.

21 https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/uk-gdpr-guidance-and-resources/lawful-basis/a-guide-to-
lawful-basis/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/#scd1

Tudalen y pecyn 107


https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/uk-gdpr-guidance-and-resources/lawful-basis/a-guide-to-lawful-basis/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/#scd1
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/uk-gdpr-guidance-and-resources/lawful-basis/a-guide-to-lawful-basis/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/#scd1

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

Other considerations

‘Legislative Competence’ is the term used to describe the scope of the Senedd's power
to legislate. The ‘Reserved Powers Model’ established by the Wales Act

2017 (https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/4/contents) allows the Senedd to
legislate on matters that are not reserved to the UK Parliament. A provision in a Senedd
Bill is unable to modify the law on reserved matters
(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/32/schedule/7B/paragraph/1).

7. Do you have any views on matters relating to the legislative competence of the
Senedd including compatibility with the European Convention on Human Rights?

(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

42. The introduction of mandatory gender quotas must be compliant with the Equality
Act 2010 since Equality Opportunities legislation is reserved.

43. The mandatory quotas as defined by this Bill do not comply with the Equality Act
2010 because;

Men suffer a detriment. To allow up to 100% women but only up to 50% men
is unlikely to be considered a proportionate means of achieving a more
effective Senedd. This is direct discrimination on the basis of sex.
Providing a statement that a person is a woman is not how the Equality Act
2010 defines “woman” (which is a female of any age)
Although the Gender Recognition Act 2004 allows for the concept of “legal
sex”, only those with a Gender Recognition Certificate (GRC) would qualify. A
gender statement is not a GRC.
The Equality Act 2010 says this about shortlists: These arrangements can
include single-sex shortlists for election candidates, but not shortlists
restricted to people with other protected characteristics??.

o A mandatory quota defined for people with the characteristics of sex

and/or gender reassignment would fail this test.

o A mandatory quota is not a short list.

o Once parity is reached, single-sex short lists are not allowed.
Short lists as defined in the Equality Act 2010 are optional — something a
political party can choose to do or not. This Bill would make shortlists
mandatory which is beyond what the Equality Act 2010 permits.

22 hitps://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/notes/division/3/7/5

Tudalen y pecyn 108


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/notes/division/3/7/5

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

8. Do you have any views on matters related to the quality of the legislation, or to the
constitutional or other implications of the Bill?
(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

44, The Equality Impact Assessment?3 is incomplete and badly flawed.
e There is no proper assessment of the protected characteristics.
e No evidence for many assertions made.
e Adverse impacts are not considered at all other than for gender
reassignment.
e The protected characteristic of sex is misstated as sex/gender.
e Gender reassignment impacts are severe and lack appropriate mitigation.

45. An example of poor assessment of the protected characteristics - disability:
An increase in women’s representation may lead to more representation of women
who are disabled by barriers in society.

This is not a claim that more disabled people would be elected, but that women are
more interested than men in the issues faced by disabled people. It is not clear why
this is the responsibility of female MSs alone to take an interest in the welfare of
disabled people. Despite recognising that disabled people need to be better served,
as at 31 October 2023, the Welsh Government did not even know how many
members of the Senedd were disabled.?*

46. There is no consideration in the protected characteristic of religion or belief
assessment that the gender statement might be considered a statement of gender
identity and as a result would exclude anyone who does not share a belief that
everyone has a gender identity.

47. The impact assessment for the protected characteristic of gender reassignment
notes detriments resulting from the scrutiny of their gender statement both in the
media and legally which could lead to negative mental health consequences. At 620
words, this is one of the longest assessments. By contrast, the protected
characteristic of pregnancy and maternity (potentially a key reason for the lack of
elected women) is dealt with in just 81 words. This demonstrates a lack of rigour for
the impact on protected characteristics that impact women specifically.

48. The mitigation for the stress experienced by a candidate with the protected
characteristic of gender reassignment is to ensure that gender statements are not
available for scrutiny, but the implementation of a wholesale change to the Welsh
system of election with this concept of gender statements at its core must operate in
a transparent manner.

23 https://www.gov.wales/senedd-cymru-electoral-candidate-lists-bill-equality-and-human-rights-
impact-assessment

24 https://www.gov.wales/senedd-cymru-members-and-elections-bill-equality-impact-assessment-html

Tudalen y pecyn 109


https://www.gov.wales/senedd-cymru-electoral-candidate-lists-bill-equality-and-human-rights-impact-assessment
https://www.gov.wales/senedd-cymru-electoral-candidate-lists-bill-equality-and-human-rights-impact-assessment
https://www.gov.wales/senedd-cymru-members-and-elections-bill-equality-impact-assessment-html

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

49. Furthermore, it is acknowledged that (certainly in lists with 50% men) the position of
a candidate on a list will indicate their gender statement anyway. So the mitigation

won’t work.

50. The protected characteristic of sex is misstated as sex/gender. Gender is not a
protected characteristic and is not defined?®.

25 hitps://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents

Tudalen y pecyn 110


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

9. Are there any other issues that you would like to raise about the Bill, the
accompanying Explanatory Memorandum and Regulatory Impact Assessment, or any
related matters?

(we would be grateful if you could keep your answer to around 500 words)

51.

52.

53.

54.

The UN Special Rapporteur on Violence against Women and Girls issued a
statement?® on 4 April 2024 regarding the CEDAW definition of “woman” (CEDAW
being endorsed by the Welsh Government?’). She is clear that women and girls are
female people, and that “sex and sex-based discrimination is understood as a
biological category”. This is at odds with a self-declared gender statement.

The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) requires public bodies — including the Welsh
Government —to:
e Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct
that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act;
e Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant
protected characteristic and those who do not;
e Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected
characteristic and those who do not.

It’s a fundamental principle of the Equality Act single-sex exceptions that any
positive action is “a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim”. Without
that, it’s plain old sex discrimination. For the Bill to satisfy the PSED the proposal
must show that there is a need for more women to be elected to the Senedd, and
that the Bill would not cause undue detriment for other prote ex cted characteristics
or damage relations. That the Explanatory Memorandum suggests that the Senedd
would be improved is aspirational rather than required since current shortcomings
are not evidenced.

This Explanatory Memorandum represents women as having a different set of
interests than men, and because women are not like men, having more women
elected will make the Senedd better. This is both sexist and unevidenced. Women
should be fairly represented in government because it’s the right thing to do for
women. Women are every bit as competent as men, with a wide range of policy
interests. Just like men.

It’s important that issues faced by women but not by men — safety, healthcare, loss
of earning due to childbearing — are given due regard. But most of all, creating
equality of opportunity so that the best candidates are selected is good for
everyone, and the best way to achieve this is to remove impediments that hold good
women back. The Bill will not assist women who have been unable to overcome
those impediments, rather it will actively assist those women who would already put

26 https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/documents/issues/women/sr/statements/20240404-

Statement-sr-vawg-cedaw-convention.pdf

27 https://www.google.com/url?g=https://www.gov.wales/violence-against-women-domestic-abuse-

and-sexual-violence-strategy-2022-2026-

html&sa=D&source=docs&ust=1712502893954543&usg=A0vVaw00iS-coYNYYTmSN1wFInNR

Tudalen y pecyn 111


https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/documents/issues/women/sr/statements/20240404-Statement-sr-vawg-cedaw-convention.pdf
https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/documents/issues/women/sr/statements/20240404-Statement-sr-vawg-cedaw-convention.pdf
https://www.google.com/url?q=https://www.gov.wales/violence-against-women-domestic-abuse-and-sexual-violence-strategy-2022-2026-html&sa=D&source=docs&ust=1712502893954543&usg=AOvVaw0OiS-coYNYY1mSN1wF9nNR
https://www.google.com/url?q=https://www.gov.wales/violence-against-women-domestic-abuse-and-sexual-violence-strategy-2022-2026-html&sa=D&source=docs&ust=1712502893954543&usg=AOvVaw0OiS-coYNYY1mSN1wF9nNR
https://www.google.com/url?q=https://www.gov.wales/violence-against-women-domestic-abuse-and-sexual-violence-strategy-2022-2026-html&sa=D&source=docs&ust=1712502893954543&usg=AOvVaw0OiS-coYNYY1mSN1wF9nNR

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 3 | Paper 3

55.

56.

57.

themselves forward as candidates, and those who are prepared to make a statement
that they are a woman.

Improved child care would do more to help women in all walks of life. Better
maternity pay would address financial issues. The Equality Act makes sex-based
discrimination illegal (where not a proportionate means to a legitimate aim), but
that needs to be properly enforced.

This Bill talks about women as if we are not full humans but instead a group of
people with specific ways of working, interests, policy focus that is reliant on
outdated sex-based stereotypes. This is very regressive.

The bell curves for human behaviour across the sexes have a huge overlap. The
people who put themselves forward for public office are likely to be more similar to
each other (male or female) than the population who choose not to put themselves
forward, particularly within the tiny sample of those elected to the Senedd.

Tudalen y pecyn 112



Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) ix o Reol Sefydlog 17.42

Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 113



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 5 | Paper 5

Eitem 5

SCECLB34-P Joyce Watson AS, Cadeirydd Cawcws Menywod y Senedd

Senedd Cymru | Welsh Parliament

Ymateb gan Joyce Watson AS, Cadeirydd Cawcws Menywod y Senedd | Evidence from Joyce
Watson MS, Chair of Senedd Women'’s Caucus (Saesneg yn unig)

The need for and impact of gender mechanisms

Submission from Senedd Women'’s Caucus, led by Joyce Watson MS, Chair

e | am giving evidence as chair of the Senedd Women’s Caucus. We have
met to discuss this and this is an updated version of the evidence
previously submitted.

e Giving evidence with me will be Sioned Williams MS, Plaid Cymru, Janet
Finch-Saunders MS, Welsh Conservative and Rhianon Passmore MS,
Welsh Labour.

e The Senedd Women's Caucus was established last year with a mission
to bring together women Members of the Senedd from across the
political parties to work purposefully, promoting and supporting
women's participation in politics and identifying current barriers within
our parliamentary system.

e Last June the Caucus heard evidence from Senator Fiona O’Loughlin,
Chair of the Qireachtas (Irish Parliament) Women's Caucus, on their use
of gender quotas in elections, towards the wider goal of achieving
gender equality in Ireland.

e At the Caucus’ discussion of this evidence, Sian Gwenllian MS stated
that mechanisms should be an essential part of the reform package.

Reforms would be incomplete without this action, and to fully represent
Tudalen y pecyn 123


https://senedd.cymru/pwyllgorau/y-pwyllgor-biliau-diwygio/
https://senedd.wales/committees/reform-bill-committee/
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=549
https://business.senedd.wales/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=549
https://business.senedd.wales/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=549

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 5 | Paper 5

all the women of Wales the Bill should bring forward effective
mechanisms.

e Rhianon Passmore MS spoke of the importance of a suitable workplace
and care infrastructure to enable all members to work effectively. She
referred to data from Reykjavik on young people’s perceptions of
gender equality in Iceland.

e Carolyn Thomas MS shared results from a school visit she did with
Girlguiding Cymru. This showed the impact of unconscious bias on
young people, such as boys talking over girls in the classroom and girls
on the school council still not feeling that their voices were heard.

e Sioned Williams MS said that women Senedd members had been
impactful in changing the agenda in Wales, with work on subjects
including work/life balance, domestic abuse and the forthcoming
Women'’s Health Plan. This approach makes space for male members
to tackle similar subjects, such as work by Huw Irranca-Davies MS on
menopause.

e Several Caucus members reported that, in their experience, ‘you can't
rely on people doing the right thing’ in internal party selections.

e Some felt that it was important that this action was enshrined in law,
rather than being left to political parties, normalising it as a first step
towards equality.

e Parties have rigorous selection processes ensuring good quality
candidates, contradicting the argument that women candidates may
not be ‘the best person for the job.’

e Inthe 25 years since Welsh devolution, the public has consistently
elected governments with a commitment to equality at the heart of their
election manifestos and their programmes of government. The first

Welsh Assembly Government made equality a cross-cutting objective

Tudalen y pecyn 124



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 5 | Paper 5

for all of its work, and this principle has remained throughout
subsequent government programmes.

e Since the Senedd was established in 1999, the laws and rules that
govern the institution specifically require that its work should be
conducted “with due regard to the principle that there should be
equality of opportunity for all people.”

e Wales had only ever had four women Members of Parliament prior to
the 1997 general election, from Megan Lloyd George in 1927 to Ann
Clwyd in 1984. From 1993 the Labour Party committed to actions to
redress imbalance by implementing all women shortlists in half of
‘winnable’ seats for the next general election. This was controversial
but resulted in an increase from one to four Welsh women MPs at the

e The establishment of the National Assembly for Wales presented an
opportunity to create a new political culture in a brand new institution,
addressing concerns about representation, among other desired
changes.

e Gender equality mechanisms were used by some parties in the first
Welsh Assembly elections in 1999, resulting in 24 female members out
of 60. Welsh Labour used twinning, resulting in 15 of 28 Labour
members being women, while Plaid Cymru used a zipping method on
party lists, resulting in 6 of 177 members being women. The Welsh
Liberal Democrats elected 3 men and 3 women, while the Welsh
Conservatives, which did not use any mechanisms, elected nine men.

e Gender balance was achieved in the 2020 cabinet of the first Assembly,

taking Wales from among the worst female representation in Europe to

Tudalen y pecyn 125


https://olh.openlibhums.org/article/id/4658/
https://www.iwa.wales/wp-content/media/2016/03/criticalmasseng.pdf

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 5 | Paper 5

e In 2003, Wales became the first country in the world to have an equal

e However, | believe that the Senedd’s status as a world leader, which has
received international praise, should not be taken for granted. We have
seen the gender balance change across elections and by-elections, and
it currently stands at 43% women and 57% men.

e Women represent 51% of the UK population according to the 2021
census and women are approximately 50% of the world's population.

e | would argue that democratic institutions such as the Senedd and
Westminster should attempt to adequately reflect and represent the
needs and specific policy concerns of half the population.

e Parliaments represent their entire populations. More diversity of
representation brings a broader diversity of views, making parliaments
more representative of the populations they serve.

e Fair representation leads to increased voter trust and bolsters the
legitimacy of the governing body. Increased legitimacy leads to more
trust between voters and government, and political space operates

e Itis broadly recognised across Western democracies and institutions
worldwide, including in the EU Parliament, that concrete formal and
informal measures to address gender inequality are required to reach
gender parity within politics.

e When cultural, socio-economic, and institutional structures are built by
men for men, enforcement and implementation of women's policies
can fall short.

e It could be argued that gender quotas should be viewed from the

perspective of social and democratic justice. With half the UK's

Tudalen y pecyn 126


https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-56225381
https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/uk-population-by-ethnicity/demographics/male-and-female-populations/latest/#:%7E:text=The%20data%20shows%20that%3A,up%2029.2%20million%20(49.0%25)
https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL.FE.ZS
https://www.ndi.org/sites/default/files/Handout%204%20-%20Why%20Women%20in%20Politics.doc

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 5 | Paper 5

population being women, women have the right to be included in
political decision-making and outcomes that reflect their representation
e Calls for quotas are often met with claims that they are anti-
meritocratic. Womens’ Equality Network Wales (WEN Wales) have
submitted evidence rebutting this, and | concur with their arguments.
Our current society is not meritocratic, and underrepresented groups
face a range of challenges which traditionally dominant groups do not.
e Research has shown that, far from being underqualified, many of the
women elected through mechanisms have been more highly qualified

than their male counterparts, and the mechanisms themselves have

e The National Assembly for Wales was designed to deliver
inclusiveness, including an emphasis on committee work to develop
public policy, limiting the institution’s working hours in order to promote
a work—life balance, the requirement for gender-neutral official titles,

e In my opinion, aspects of the Senedd’s programme of work, such as
women'’s health and rights of carers, may not have been prioritised
without the female perspective of lawmakers.

e A Cambridge University study found women lawmakers are more likely
to propose policies that champion health and education, as well as
being more likely to roll out laws that tackle sexual harassment,

e US research demonstrates how prominent female politicians can

inspire other women to enter politics and how female leaders motivate

Tudalen y pecyn 127


https://www.annualreviews.org/content/journals/10.1146/annurev-polisci-041719-102019;jsessionid=PkHiLJrUzQTQ9ifJz905jXYHpTxrnoQ79Vq96uvX.annurevlive-10-241-10-90
https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/gender-quotas-do-not-pose-a-threat-to-merit-at-any-stage-of-the-political-process/
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228783477_Women_and_the_post-devolution_equality_agenda_in_Wales
https://senedd.wales/media/w0pfzn23/caucus-chaney.pdf
https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/politics-gender-equality-parliamentarians-b1867720.html

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 5 | Paper 5

other women to run for office. As more women ‘break the glass ceiling’
and move into high political positions, it sets new precedents for
society. Women in leadership positions inspire younger generations to
set similar aspirations, triggering a cascade of positive growth. Women

e The American Economic Association estimate that 15% of seats in a
political body can change the political agenda but a proportion of 40%

e When laws establishing rules to promote parity are issued, it increases
the share of women three times faster, according to a study conducted

e According to the UN Women and the Inter-Parliamentary Union 2023
map, more women are participating in political decision-making
worldwide, but gender equality still has not been achieved. They believe
that gender quotas are one of the most effective and important
temporary special measures, which can be implemented in different

e Meryl Kenny, professor of gender and politics at the University of
Edinburgh says: “Focusing on parties redirects attention from individual
solutions to institutional strategies to rectify women's political under-
representation and men's over-representation. Gender quotas are an
important aspect of encouraging women's participation. The global evidence
suggests that, if well-designed and properly implemented, quotas—whether
adopted voluntarily by political parties or enshrined in law—are one of the
most effective means to ensure significant increases in women's numerical

e Gender quotas have achieved international recognition as a viable

source of affirmative action. The principle of equal political participation

Tudalen y pecyn 128


https://www.undp.org/blog/struggle-women-politics-continues
https://www.aeaweb.org/conference/2018/preliminary/paper/an5yEb5h
https://www.euronews.com/my-europe/2022/07/05/how-do-eu-member-state-parliaments-compare-on-gender-equality
https://turkiye.un.org/en/224322-according-un-women-ipu-women-politics-2023-map-womens-participation-politics-still-far
https://www.socialeurope.eu/beyond-numbers-securing-gender-equality-in-politics

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 5 | Paper 5

has been embedded in multiple international conventions and
declarations, beginning with The Convention of the Elimination of all
forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW) adopted by the UN
General Assembly in 1979. Article 4 of the Convention on the
Elimination of all forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW)
recognises quota systems as measures that are needed to 'kick-start'
women's political representation, particularly in countries where women
have traditionally been under-represented in the national legislatures.

e |Institutional support outside of the UK for gender quotas and equality
and the consensus opinion can be evidenced by the Spanish PM, Pedro
Sanchez, announcing a law promoting gender parity in politics and
business. The gender equality law will require more equal
representation of women and men in politics, business and other

e Additionally, to decrease inequality between men and women in the
workplace, multiple European countries have legislated quota
regulations in favour of women. Since 2016, a gender quota has been
entrenched in German law, followed by a significant rise in the

e Ursula von der Leyen became the first female president of the European
Commission in 2019, promising to deliver a Union of Equality — starting
with her own team. Her Commission is the most gender-balanced yet,

e President of the European Commission, Ursula von der Leyen, said:
"Gender equality is a core principle of the European Union, but it is not yet a
reality. In business, politics and society as a whole, we can only reach our full

potential if we use all of our talent and diversity. Using only half of the

Tudalen y pecyn 129


https://www.internationalaffairs.org.au/news-item/a-gender-agenda-the-effectiveness-of-quota-systems-in-increasing-womens-meaningful-participation-in-politics/
https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Parliamentary_Departments/Parliamentary_Library/pubs/rp/rp1314/ElectoralQuotas
https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/spain-announces-law-promoting-gender-parity-politics-business-2023-03-04/
https://www.in-mind.org/article/what-are-the-positive-and-negative-side-effects-of-gender-quotas
https://www.politico.eu/article/not-yet-equal-europe-political-policy-gender-gap-in-charts/

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 5 | Paper 5

population, half of the ideas, or half of the energy is not good enough. With
the Gender Equality Strategy, we are pushing for more and faster progress to

e Inthe UK, women currently constitute around a third of MPs and local
councillors, with only seven out of 23 cabinet ministers in Westminster

¢ Inthe UK, the first woman to sit in parliament was elected in 1919. In
1987, women made up 5% of MPs. Since then, the number of female
MPs has grown, reaching 34% after the 2019 general election. The
largest jumps were at the 1997 election when the proportion of women
MPs doubled from 9% to 18%, and at the 2015 election when it rose

e While progress has been made across government and parliament in
recent decades, women remain underrepresented in both Houses of

Parliament, the cabinet, the senior civil service and among ministers

e Globally, as of 1 January 2023, 11.3% of countries have women Heads
of State (17 out of 151 countries, monarchy-based systems excluded),

e Women are underrepresented in politics and governments worldwide.
According to the IPU, a global organisation of national parliamentarians,
only 26.5 percent of parliamentarians are women. In about 22
countries, women comprise less than 10 per cent of government

e Of all the regions, Europe continues to have the highest number of

countries led by women. No EU country has reached a 50/50 sex ratio

Tudalen y pecyn 130


https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_20_358
https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_20_358
https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/politics-gender-equality-parliamentarians-b1867720.html
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/explainer/gender-balance-politics
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/explainer/gender-balance-politics
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/explainer/gender-balance-politics
https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2023/03/women-in-politics-map-2023
https://turkiye.un.org/en/224322-according-un-women-ipu-women-politics-2023-map-womens-participation-politics-still-far
https://www.ohchr.org/en/stories/2023/06/parliaments-play-crucial-role-womens-equal-right-participate

RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 5 | Paper 5

in parliament nor had a majority of women MPs. In 2021, Sweden had
the highest number of female MPs with just over 47%, followed by
Finland, Belgium, Austria, Denmark, Spain, Portugal and France. Iceland,

a non-EU country, is on par with Sweden. This figure is the highest ever

18 April 2024

Tudalen y pecyn 131


https://www.euronews.com/my-europe/2022/07/05/how-do-eu-member-state-parliaments-compare-on-gender-equality

Welsh Parliament

Women’s Caucus

Terms of Reference

May 2022

This document sets out the working arrangements for the

newly established Women's Caucus.

Purpose

The mission of the Women's Caucus is to bring together women Members of the Senedd
from across the political parties:

- To work purposefully, promoting and supporting women'’s participation in politics and
identifying current barriers within our Parliamentary system.

- To develop and advocate policy and practice initiatives that address issues affecting our
women Parliamentarians and society.

- To advance the agreed agenda of the Caucus within political parties and other spheres of

Senedd influence.

The Caucus may engage in a wide range of activities in pursuit of the progressive
realisation of removing barriers to effective political participation and enhancing
equality within the Senedd.

The Caucus will be formed of all women Members of the Senedd.

1. The steering group will comprise of:
- Chair (Joyce Watsons MS as Commissioner with responsibility for Equalities)
- Vice-chair (Llywydd)
- 3 Senedd Members*

JF% Tudalen y pecyn 132 www.senedd.wales



RBC(6)-06-24 Papur 5 | Paper 5

*To ensure party balance and alignment of relevant workstreams, these representatives will
be the elected women Senedd Members that sit on the Commonwealth Parliamentary
Association Executive Steering Committee and represent the Senedd on the CWP.

** Comment: Alternatively — if the Chair has already identified alternative Members she
believes would be suited and wishes to approach, we can take a different approach or even a
combination of models.

2. It will be the responsibility of the Chair and Steering Group Members to consult the
Members, call meetings and keep Members informed of the work of the Women's Caucus.

3. The full membership of the Women'’s Caucus will meet at least annually. However, it is
envisaged that the full membership would be called to meet by the Chairperson and
Steering Group up to four times a year.

4. For Steering Group meetings, three Members of the Group must be present for meetings,
with one being either the Chairperson or Vice Chair. Secretariat support will be provided by
the Llywydd's Private Office.

5. The caucus is established for the Sixth Senedd term and the Terms of Reference effective
from 2022. Amendments of the Terms of Reference and termination of the Caucus will be

made by agreement of the Steering Group Members.

Tudalen y pecyn 133



Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) ix o Reol Sefydlog 17.42

Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 134



	Agenda
	2.1 Llythyr at Fwrdd Taliadau Annibynnol y Senedd ynghylch Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol) - 22 Mawrth 2024
	2.2 Llythyr gan Fwrdd Taliadau Annibynnol y Senedd ynghylch Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol) - 12 Ebrill 2024
	2.3 Llythyr gan y Prif Weinidog at y Llywydd mewn perthynas â'r Aelodau sy'n gyfrifol am Filiau Llywodraeth Cymru - 5 Ebrill 2024
	2.4 Ymateb gan y Pwyllgor Safonau Ymddygiad ynghylch yr Adroddiad Cyfnod 1 ar Fil Senedd Cymru (Aelodau ac Etholiadau) - 17 Ebrill 2024
	2.5 Llythyr oddi wrth y Llywydd ynghylch Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol) - 15 Ebrill 2024
	3 Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol): Sesiwn dystiolaeth gyda 5050 Amrywiol
	SCECLB5 - P -  Diverse5050 - English Only
	Consultation response
	1. Background

	Papur 2 Tystiolaeth ysgrifenedig: Cymdeithas Diwygio Etholiadol Cymru  [Saesneg yn unig]
	SCECLB2 - P - Electoral Reform Society Cymru - English only
	SCECLB2 – P  Electoral Reform Society Cymru

	SC (Electoral Candidate Lists) Bill written evidence ERS Cymru
	1 Legal opinion
	Gender Quotas modelling
	Slide 1: Modelling the potential outcomes of legislative gender quotas
	Slide 2: Approach to modelling LGQs
	Slide 3: Vertical Zipping
	Slide 4: Horizontal Zipping
	Slide 5: Horizontal Zipping
	Slide 6: Random election methods
	Slide 7: Random election example results
	Slide 8: Random election LGQ approaches
	Slide 9: Random election modelling results
	Slide 10: Random election modelling results
	Slide 11: Random election modelling results
	Slide 12: Conclusions from random election LGQ modelling
	Slide 13: Modelled election results post-Senedd Reform - Methods
	Slide 14: Modelled new constituency boundaries
	Slide 15: Modelled election results post-Senedd Reform - Results
	Slide 16
	Slide 17: Modelled election LGQ approaches
	Slide 18: Modelled election LGQ outcomes
	Slide 19: Conclusions from modelled election LGQ outcomes

	ADP2FD7.tmp
	SCECLB2 – P  Electoral Reform Society Cymru

	ADP40A5.tmp
	SCECLB2 – P  Cymdeithas Diwygio Etholiadol Cymru


	Briff Ymchwil
	Papur 3 nodyn cyngor cyfreithiol

	4 Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol): Sesiwn dystiolaeth gyda'r Rhwydwaith Hawliau Menywod
	SCECLB7 - P - WRN -  Welsh
	SCECLB7 - P  Rhwydwaith Hawliau Merched

	SCECLB7 - P - WRN -  Welsh cover
	Consultation covering letter
	Women's Rights Network - ECL Consultation.pdf
	ADP5334.tmp
	SCECLB7 - P  Women's Rights Network


	Briff Ymchwil

	5 Bil Senedd Cymru (Rhestrau Ymgeiswyr Etholiadol): Sesiwn dystiolaeth gyda Chawcws Menywod y Senedd
	SCECLB34-P Joyce Watson AS, Cadeirydd Cawcws Menywod y Senedd
	Briff Ymchwil




